Public Document Pack

Committee Agenda
City of Westminster
Title:
Meeting Date:
Time:
Venue:
Members:

Planning Applications Sub-Committee (2)
Tuesday 26th October, 2021
6.30 pm
Rooms 18.01 & 18.03, 18th Floor, 64 Victoria Street, London,
SW1E 6QP
Councillors:
Louise Hyams (Chairman)
Tony Devenish
Antonia Cox
Nafsika Butler-Thalassis

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting
and listen to the discussion Part 1 of the Agenda
Committee members will attend the meeting in person at
Westminster City Hall. The Committee will be a hybrid
Meeting and will be live broadcast via Microsoft Teams.
Admission to the public gallery is by a pass, issued from the
ground floor reception from 6.00pm. If you have a disability
and require any special assistance please contact the
Committee Officer (details listed below) in advance of the
meeting.

T

If you require any further information, please contact the
Committee Officer, Georgina Wills, Committee and
Councillor Coordinator.
Tel: 07870 548348; email: gwills@westminster.gov.uk
Corporate Website: www.westminster.gov.uk

Note for Members: Members are reminded that Officer contacts are shown at the end of
each report and Members are welcome to raise questions in advance of the meeting.
With regard to item 2, guidance on declarations of interests is included in the Code of
Governance; if Members and Officers have any particular questions they should contact
the Director of Law in advance of the meeting please.

AGENDA
PART 1 (IN PUBLIC)
1.

MEMBERSHIP
To note any changes to the membership.

2.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To receive declarations by Members and Officers of the
existence and nature of any pecuniary interests or any other
significant interest in matters on this agenda.

3.

MINUTES
To sign the minutes of the last meeting as a correct record of
proceedings.

4.

PLANNING APPLICATIONS
Applications for decision
Schedule of Applications
Members of the public are welcome to speak on the specific
applications at the virtual planning committee meeting.
To register to speak and for guidance please visit:
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/planning-committee
Please note that you must register by 12 Noon on the Friday
before the Committee meeting
In the event that you are successful in obtaining a speaking slot
at the hybrid meeting please read the guidance, in order to
familiarise yourself with the process prior to joining the remote
meeting.
All committee meetings open to the public are being broadcast
live using Microsoft Teams. For information on participating in the
virtual Committee please see the following link
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/stream-council-meetings
To access the recording after the meeting please revisit the
Media link

(Pages 5 - 12)

1.

45 FOUBERT'S PLACE LONDON W1F 7QH

(Pages 15 - 36)

2.

15 WIMPOLE STREET LONDON W1G 9SU

(Pages 37 - 58)

3.

74 ECCLESTON SQUARE MEWS LONDON SW1V 1QN

(Pages 59 - 74)

4.

2 CLEVELAND GARDENS LONDON
W2 6HA

(Pages 75 - 92)

Stuart Love
Chief Executive
15 October 2021

Order of Business
At Planning Sub-Committee meetings the order of business for each application listed on
the agenda will be as follows:
Order of Business
i) Planning Officer presentation of the case
ii) Applicant and any other supporter(s)
iii) Objectors
iv) Amenity Society (Recognised or Semi-Recognised)
v) Neighbourhood Forum
vi) Ward Councillor(s) and/or MP(s)
vii) Council Officers response to verbal representations
viii) Member
clarification)

discussion

(including

questions

to

officers

for

ix) Member vote

These procedure rules govern the conduct of all cases reported to the Planning
Applications Sub-Committees, including applications for planning permission; listed
building consent; advertisement consent, consultations for development proposals by
other public bodies; enforcement cases; certificates of lawfulness; prior approvals, tree
preservation orders and other related cases.

Agenda Item 3

MINUTES
CITY OF WESTMINSTER

Planning Applications Sub-Committee (2)
MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
Minutes of a meeting of the Planning Applications Sub-Committee (2) held on
Tuesday 31st August, 2021, Rooms 18.01 & 18.03, 18th Floor, 64 Victoria Street,
London, SW1E 6QP.
Members Present: Councillors Louise Hyams (Chairman), Antonia Cox and
James Spencer

Also Present: Councillor Geoff Barraclough (Item 4)

Apologies for Absence: Councillor Guthrie McKie

1

APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMAN

1.1

RESOLVED:
That Councillor Louise Hyams be elected Chairman of Planning Applications
Sub-Committee (2).

2

MEMBERSHIP

2.1

It was noted that Councillor Spencer had replaced Councillor Devenish

3

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

3.1

Councillor Hyams explained that a week before the meeting, all four Members
of the Sub-Committee were provided with a full set of papers including a
detailed officer’s report on each application; together with bundles of every
single letter or e-mail received in respect of every application, including all
letters and emails containing objections or giving support. Members of the
Sub-Committee read through everything in detail prior to the meeting.
Accordingly, if an issue or comment made by a correspondent was not
specifically mentioned at this meeting in the officers’ presentation or by
Members of the Sub-Committee, it did not mean that the issue had been

Page 5

1

ignored. Members will have read about the issue and comments made by
correspondents in the papers read prior to the meeting.
3.2

Councillor Hyams declared that Items 2, 3 and 5 were located within her
Ward, but she had held no discussions regarding them with any parties.

4

MINUTES

4.1

RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the meeting held on 6 July 2021 be signed by the Chair
as a correct record of proceedings.

5

PLANNING APPLICATIONS

1

48 CHAPEL STREET LONDON NW1 5DH
Application 1
Demolition of the existing building and erection of a part 3 storey and part 7
storey (plus basement) hotel (Use Class C2), public house (Sui Generis Use)
and retail premise (Class E); including excavation of basement, bin and bike
storage, rooftop plant, new tree.
Application 2
Relocation of two phone boxes from the corner of Old Marylebone Road and
Chapel Street to Chapel Street.
The Presenting Officer had circulated an additional condition (undated).
An additional representation had been received from the Hyde Park Ward
Labour Action Team (20.08.21).
A late representation was received from a local resident (31.08.21).
The Presenting Officer tabled the following amendments to the conditions and
informatives on the decision notice:
Condition 7 to read:
The full height kitchen extract/ventilation system through the building shall be
installed and operational prior to any primary cooking (the cooking of raw or
fresh food) taking place on site or alternative ventilation details as approved in
writing by the local planning authority.
Condition 8 to read:
Prior to occupation - you must provide an Operational Management Plan for
the hotel and public house to the local planning authority in writing. The plan
must include, but limited to, the following:

Page 6

2

I. Customer opening hours (no greater than those stated in condition 9);
II. Capacity (pub only);
III. How the uses will be serviced;
IV. How the uses will be operated;
V. Visitor management, such as: queuing, crowd control etc.;
VI. Security arrangements;
VII. Access and egress arrangements;
The uses must then operate in accordance with the approved management
plan unless otherwise agreed first by the local planning authority.
Informative 13 to read:
This permission is governed by a legal agreement between the applicant and
us under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. The
agreement relates to:
i. Planting of a replacement tree at the junction of Chapel Street and Old
Marylebone Road prior to occupation and provision of a management plan to
ensure its retention and ongoing future maintenance.
ii. Provision of a financial contribution of £34,484.24 (index linked) to the
Westminster Employment Service prior to the commencement of
development.
iii. Highways works necessary to facilitate the proposed development.
iv. Provision of a financial contribution of £66,405 to the Carbon Offset Fund
(index linked) payable prior to the commencement of development; and
v. The costs of monitoring the S106 legal agreement.
Informative 14 to read:
In relation to Condition 6, the definition of fitted to category A standards
means the main structural elements of the [Public House] provided with basebuild mechanical and electrical services together with but not limited to:
• floors;
• wall finishes;
• soffit finishes;
• lighting;
• ventilation;
• heating and power
Informative 15 to read:
You are advised that the replacement tree to the corner of Chapel Street and
Old Marylebone Road will be subject to a Tree Preservation Order.
Aimee Squires addressed the Sub-Committee in support of the application.
RESOLVED UNANIMOULSY:
To defer both applications on the grounds that although the Sub-Committee
was mindful of the overall benefits of the proposals, it was considered that the
applicant should consider further changes to the bulk and height of the new

Page 7

3

building in order to further mitigate the loss of light to those residents living in
Wallace Court.

2

64 - 65 ST JAMES'S STREET LONDON SW1A 1NF
Demolition of the existing mansard roof and removal of plant and escape stair;
erection of new double mansard roof extension and rear extension for
additional commercial floorspace (Use Class E); and installation of new
escape stair, rear balconies, roof terrace and associated works.
An additional representation was received from the St James’s Conservation
Trust (undated).
The Presenting Officer tabled the following amendment to Condition 9:
You can use the ground and lower ground floor commercial unit for any use
within Class E of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987
as amended September 2020 (or any equivalent class in any order that may
replace it) except as:
E(b) Café/restaurant
E(d) indoor recreation;
E(e) medical/ health services; or
E(f) Creche/ nursery.
Matt Humphreys addressed the Sub-Committee in support of the application.
RESOLVED (For: Councillors Hyams and Spencer; Against: Councillor
Cox):
That conditional permission, as amended, be granted.

3

24 TUFTON STREET LONDON SW1P 3RB
Application 1 (Planning):
Erection of a roof extension to form a double mansard, to provide additional
office (B1) floorspace; external alterations and repair works including
installation of plant at roof level and new windows to rear elevation.
Application 2 (Listed building):
Erection of a roof extension to form a double mansard; external alterations
and repair works including installation of plant at roof level and new windows
to rear elevation; internal alterations including the installation of new lifts,
alterations to facilitate disabled access, restoration of the chapel and
assembly room, replacement of the secondary staircase and removal of
partitions.
Additional representations were received from a local resident (undated) and
the National Church Institutions of the Church of England (undated).

Page 8

4

The Presenting Officer tabled the following additional condition:
Notwithstanding the submitted drawings, you must apply to us for approval of
detailed drawings clarifying works to the chimney stacks at roof level on the
building, including details of any chimney stacks to be rebuilt. You must not
start any work on these parts of the development until we have approved what
you have sent us. You must then carry out the works according to these
drawings.
Nick Duffy addressed the Sub-Committee in support of the application.
Barbara Weiss addressed the Sub-Committee in objection to the application.
Alan Leibowitz addressed the Sub-Committee in objection to the application.
RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY:

4

1.

That conditional permission, as amended, be granted;

2.

That conditional listed building consent be granted; and

3.

That the reasons for granting conditional listed building consent as set
out in Informative 1 on the draft decision letter be agreed.

PADDINGTON BOWLING & SPORTS CLUB CASTELLAIN ROAD
LONDON W9 1HQ
Installation of low level LED floodlighting with telescopic columns to existing
outdoor tennis courts 6-8. Replacement of fencing around courts 6-8.
An additional representation was received from a local resident (undated).
A late representation was received from Sports Facility Planning & Design Ltd
(27.08.21).
Emily McKay addressed the Sub-Committee in support of the application.
Councillor Geoff Barraclough addressed the Sub-Committee in his capacity as
Ward Councillor in support of the application.
RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY:
That conditional permission be granted subject to:
1)

Condition 5 being amended to permit the use of the floodlights between
the hours of 16:00 and 21:00, instead of the originally proposed 16:00
to 20:00 hours, as it was felt that these hours would not adversely
affect the amenity of neighbouring residents; and

Page 9

5

2)

5

An additional informative requesting the applicant to provide a contact
number to local residents and to ensure players were mindful of
adjoining residents when playing later in the evening during the winter
months.

FLAT 17 VALE ROYAL HOUSE 36 NEWPORT COURT LONDON WC2H
7PS
Erection of additional storey with terrace at first floor level in connection with
use as two residential units (Class C3).
The Presenting Officer tabled the following additional condition:
You must apply to us for approval of details of how waste is to be stored on
site and how materials for recycling will be stored separately. You must not
occupy the residential use hereby approved until we have approved what you
have sent us. You must then provide the waste and recycling storage prior to
occupation of the development and thereafter permanently retain the stores
according to these details. You must clearly mark them and make them
available at all times to everyone using the residential units. You must not use
the waste and recycling store for any other purpose.
RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY:
That conditional permission, as amended, be granted.

6

BASEMENT AND GROUND FLOOR 94 QUEENSWAY LONDON W2 3RR
Replacement of shopfront including the installation of an awning, erection of
ground floor rear extension to rear yard of shop and the installation of full
height extract duct to the rear.
The Presenting Officer tabled the following amendments to the conditions:
Additional Condition 10:
You must apply to us for approval of details showing the following alteration to
the scheme:
i) The replacement paving to the front limited to the private forecourt.
ii) sample (photograph) of the proposed paving
You must not start on these parts of the work until we have approved in
writing what you have sent us. You must then carry out the work according to
the approved drawings. (C26UC)
Reason
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it
contributes to the character and appearance of this part of the Queensway
Conservation Area. This is as set out in Policies 38, 39 and 40 of the City Plan
2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R26BF)

Page 10

6

Remove condition 8:
No primary cooking shall take place within the ground and basement unit until
the ventilation flue as shown on the approved drawings has been installed.
Reason
To protect the environment of the people in the residential part of the
development. This is as set out in Policies 7, 33 and 38 of the City Plan 2019 2040 (April 2021). (R21CD)
Ali Kazim addressed the Sub-Committee in support of the application.
RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY:
That conditional permission, as amended, be granted.

7

APPLICATION 1 ARNOLD HOUSE SCHOOL 1-3 LOUDOUN ROAD
LONDON NW8 0LH APPLICATION 2 37 GROVE END ROAD LONDON
NW8 9NG
Application 1
Arnold House School: T1-T3 3 x sycamore: fell, T4 1 x lime: fell
Application 2
37 Grove End Road: T5-T6 2 x lime: fell, T7-T9 3 x sycamore: fell, T10
1 x maple: fell
RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY:
That consent be refused on the grounds that the trees had significant amenity
value and it was considered that the wall could be rebuilt without the need to
remove the trees and without causing them significant harm.

The Meeting ended at 9.26 pm

CHAIRMAN:

DATE

Page 11

7

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Annex
CITY OF WESTMINSTER
PLANNING APPLICATIONS SUB COMMITTEE – 26th October 2021
SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS TO BE CONSIDERED
Item No
1.

References

Site Address

Proposal

RN(s):

45
Foubert's
Place
London
W1F 7QH

Demolition of the existing fourth floor roof
structures and erection of two storey roof
extension to create new fourth and fifth floor
level (including plant and roof terraces); all to
enlarge office building (Class E). Alterations to
front (western facade), installation of new
windows throughout and associated alterations.

20/07701/FULL
West End

Applicant

Aviva Life &
Pensions UK Limited

Recommendation
Grant conditional permission.
Item No
2.

References

Site Address

Proposal

RN(s):

15 Wimpole
Street
London
W1G 9SU

Reinstatement of stairs and stone floor landings on
ground and first floor and installation of a lift in the
stairwell.

21/02967/LBC
Marylebone High
Street

Applicant

Partners FC Inc

Recommendation
1. Grant conditional listed building consent.
Item No
3.

References

Site Address

Proposal

RN(s):

74
Eccleston
Square
Mews
London
SW1V 1QN

Conversion of garage to habitable living
accommodation (Retrospective application).

21/04382/FULL

Warwick

Applicant

Mr Mark Shearer

Recommendation
Grant conditional permission.
Item No
4.

References

Site Address

Proposal

RN(s):

2 Cleveland
Gardens
London
W2 6HA

Use of storage areas at lower ground and ground
floor levels as a one-bedroom flat and associated
internal and external alterations including the
installation of two rooflights to the rear and door to
courtyard.

20/03593/FULL
20/03594/LBC

Applicant

Lancaster Gate
Recommendation

1. Refuse planning permission.
2. Grant conditional listed building consent.
3. Agree the reasons for granting conditional listed building consent.

Page 13

Khan

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1
Item No.
1

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
PLANNING
APPLICATIONS SUB
COMMITTEE

Date

Classification

26 October 2021

For General Release

Report of
Director of Place Shaping and Town Planning

Ward(s) involved
West End

Subject of Report

45 Foubert's Place, London, W1F 7QH

Proposal

Demolition of the existing fourth floor roof structures and erection of two
storey roof extension to create new fourth and fifth floor level (including
plant and roof terraces); all to enlarge office building (Class E).
Alterations to front (western facade), installation of new windows
throughout and associated alterations.

Agent

Gerald Eve LLP

On behalf of

Aviva Life & Pensions UK Limited

Registered Number

20/07701/FULL

Date Application
Received

2 December 2020

Historic Building Grade

Unlisted

Conservation Area

Soho

1.

Date amended/
completed

11 December
2020

RECOMMENDATION

Grant conditional permission.

2.

SUMMARY

The application site comprises an unlisted office building located within the Central Activities Zone
(CAZ) and the Soho Conservation Area. Permission is sought to erect a two-storey roof extension to
create a new fourth and fifth floor with associated plant and terrace in order to enlarge this office
building.
The main issues for consideration are:
-

Whether the proposed development will preserve the character and appearance of the Soho
Conservation Area and not harm the setting of the two neighbouring Grade II listed buildings.
Whether the proposed development will materially harm the amenity of neighbouring residents
through noise, loss of daylight and sunlight, and overlooking.

Page 15

Item No.
1

The proposed increase in office floorspace is acceptable in this location and the impact upon the
amenity of local residents is acceptable. Furthermore, the proposal will preserve the character and
appearance of the Soho Conservation Area and not harm the setting of the neighbouring listed
buildings.
For these reasons, it is recommended that conditional permission be granted.

Page 16

Item No.
1

3.

LOCATION PLAN
..

This production includes mapping data
licensed from Ordnance Survey with the
permission if the controller of Her Majesty’s
Stationary Office (C) Crown Copyright and /or
database rights 2013.
All rights reserved License Number LA
100019597

Page 17

Item No.
1

4.

PHOTOGRAPHS

Front elevation from the junction of Foubert’s Place and Marshall Street

Page 18

Item No.
1

5.

CONSULTATIONS
SOHO SOCIETY: Any response to be reported verbally.
ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES: No objection.
ADJOINING OWNERS/OCCUPIERS AND OTHER REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED:
No. Consulted: 130
Total No. of replies: 9
No. of objections: 9
No. in support: 0
All objecting on some or all of the following grounds:
Design and Conservation:
- The extensive dark metal classing proposed in the construction of the new fourth
floor is not commensurate with the Soho Conservation Area or the setting of the
Marshall Street Baths (Grade II listed).
Amenity:
- Objection to the proposed roof terrace on the ground that it will lead to substantial
noise and air pollution through office staff using it for smoking.
- Noise and vibration from the proposed plant.
- The acoustic report does not correctly identify the nearest noise sensitive receptor.
- Loss of light.
- The Daylight / Sunlight Report is inaccurate as it assumes that the residential units
within the 16 Marshall Street residential development immediately the east of the
application site start at fourth floor level when in fact, they start at third floor level.
- The Daylight / Sunlight Report is misleading as it infers that the flats located to the
east and south of the application site are not in residential use but are to ‘the rear of
Poland Street Car Park’ and ‘Marshall Street Leisure Centre’.
- Increased sense of enclosure.
Other:
- Disruption during the course of construction.
PRESS ADVERTISEMENT / SITE NOTICE:
Yes

6.
6.1

BACKGROUND INFORMATION
The Application Site
The application site comprises an unlisted office (Class E) arranged over part basement,
ground and three upper floors. The site is located within the Soho Conservation Area,
the CAZ, the Soho Special Policy Area and the West End Retail and Leisure Special
Policy Area.
The majority of the basement is in separate ownership and it outside of the application

Page 19

Item No.
1

site.
The Marshall Street Baths (Grade II listed) is located to the south of the application site
and 48 Great Marlborough Street (also Grade II listed) is located to the to the north of
the application site.
The nearest residential units are to the east and south within 20 Marshall Street and
Regents Lofts and Penthouses, 16 Marshall Street.
The building only has a narrow street presence at the junction of Foubert’s Place and
Marshall Street, with the majority of the building not being visible in public views.
6.2

Recent Relevant History
19/01283/CLEUD
Demolition of plant enclosure brick wall, concrete steps and plant at fourth and fifth floor
level as shown on Dwg. Nos. 833_EX-04 Rev. T1 and 833_EX-05 Rev. T1 which
constitute the lawful implementation of planning permission dated 22 December 2015
(RN: 15/03057/FULL).
Application Permitted
5 June 2019
19/01282/FULL
Variation of Conditions 1 and 12 and deletion of Conditions 6, 7 and 13 of planning
permission dated 22 December 2015 (RN: 15/03057/FULL) for, 'Demolition of the
existing 4th floor roof structures and erection of a new fourth floor extension to be used
for office (Class B1) purposes with a plant room above. Replacement of the existing
windows at all floor levels and installation of new windows on the south elevation';
NAMELY; to make the following amendments to the approved development: (i) To
extend the fourth floor fully to align with the existing rear elevation to provide additional
office (Class B1) floor space; (ii) Alterations to design of the front facade; and (iii) The
addition of rooflights to the south ground floor extension (Conditions 6, 7 and 13 would
no longer be required).
Application Permitted
3 July 2019
15/03057/FULL
Demolition of the existing 4th floor roof structures and erection of a new fourth floor
extension to be used for office (Class B1) purposes with a plant room above.
Replacement of the existing windows at all floor levels and installation of new windows
on the south elevation.
Application Permitted
22 December 2015

7.

THE PROPOSAL
As set above, permission was granted on 22 December 2015 to erect a new fourth floor
roof extension to this building (+189 sq.m) with plant above.
An application to make ‘minor material amendments’ to this permission was made
whereby: (i) The footprint of this new fourth floor was proposed to be extended
eastwards so that would cover the entirety of the roof (+251 sq.m); (ii) The front
elevation was proposed to be altered to introduce green and white coloured glazed

Page 20

Item No.
1

bricks and Crittal-style windows; and (iii) Rooflights were proposed to be introduced in
the roof of the southern wing. A new permission incorporating these alterations was
granted on 3 July 2019.
‘Material operations’ took place within the three-year life of the 2015 permission (as
confirmed through the issuing of a lawful development certificate on 5 June 2019)
meaning that both the 2015 and 2019 permissions are extant and can be built out at any
point in the future.
This latest application seeks to build upon the 2015 and 2019 permissions through
adding a new part fifth floor roof extension to provide additional office floorspace. This in
turn requires the roof level plant to be relocated to the north of the roof (fully enclosed by
plant screen). A fifth-floor terrace on the southern and eastern parts of this new roof is
also proposed for use by the office tenants. This terrace would be enclosed by a
balustrade and planting on its western and southern edges. On its eastern edge, it is
proposed that the terrace be enclosure by planting and a 1.8m tall privacy screen.
As the new fourth floor permitted in 2019 has not been constructed, it is not possible to
apply for the proposed new fifth floor in isolation. The applicant is therefore seeking
permission for the extensions and alterations permitted in 2019, including the new fourth
floor extension, as well as the new partial fifth floor, the re-located plant and the addition
of a terrace at fifth floor level. These additional elements will be the focus of this report
given that the 2019 permission is a realistic fall-back position that could be built out at
any point in the future.
As set out below, the proposal would see an increase in office floorspace of 337 sq.m.

Office (Class E)

Existing GIA (sqm)
1,362

8.

DETAILED CONSIDERATIONS

8.1

Land Use

Proposed GIA (sqm)
1,699

+/+337

Parameters of Application
The application submission has been framed on the basis that the proposed extension is
for additional office floorspace and the terraces will be used in association with this use.
Officers have approached the applicant asking whether it wishes the City Council to
assess the acceptability of the development on the basis that it is used as offices and no
other use within Class E (and accept a condition to that effect). Alternatively, the
applicant was asked whether it wishes the City Council to assess the acceptability of the
other uses within Class E that the floorspace could be used for in the future. Planning
permission would not be required for such a change of use as using land or buildings
within the same use class does not constitute development.
The applicant has confirmed that the additional floorspace will be used as office only and
the terraces used is association with that use. Furthermore, the applicant has confirmed
that it is willing to accept a condition limiting any future change of use to another use
within Class E.

Page 21

Item No.
1

Increase in office floorspace
Given the site’s location within the CAZ and the West End Retail and Leisure Special
Policy Area, the proposed increase in office floorspace of 337 sq.m is acceptable
through being in compliance with City Plan Policies 1(A)(3), 1(B)(1), 2(A) and 13(A).
8.2

Townscape and Design
The key legislative requirements in respect to designated heritage assets are as follows:
Section 66 of the same Act requires that “In considering whether to grant planning
permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local
planning authority or, as the case may be, the Secretary of State shall have special
regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.”
Section 72 of the same Act requires that “In the exercise, with respect to any buildings or
other land in a conservation area…special attention shall be paid to the desirability of
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area.”
Furthermore Chapters 12 and 16 of the NPPF require great weight be placed on design
quality and the preservation of designated heritage assets including their setting.
Chapter 16 of the NPPF clarifies that harmful proposals should only be approved where
the harm caused would be clearly outweighed by the public benefits of the scheme,
taking into account the statutory duty to have special regard or pay special attention, as
relevant. This should also take into account the relative significance of the affected asset
and the severity of the harm caused.
The proposed two-storey roof extensions are set back from the front façade so that they
have very limited impact in terms of view from Marshall Street and Foubert’s Place. The
fifth-floor plant area is set back even further into the site. It has been demonstrated that
this plant area will not be visible from long view looking south along Ramillies Street from
Oxford Street. Given the context and limited public views, it is concluded that the roof
extension is acceptable in height and bulk terms. The detailed design of the proposed
fifth floor is acceptable, with the limited extent of glazing meaning attention will not be
drawn to it when lit during the evenings. The use of dark metal cladding for the fourth
and fifth floors is acceptable and will ensure that the extension appears as part of the
roof of the building.
For these reasons, it is concluded that the development will preserve the character and
appearance of the Soho Conservation Area and not harm the setting of the neighbouring
Marshall Street Baths (Grade II listed) or 48 Great Marlborough Street (also Grade II
listed).
As such, the proposal is considered acceptable, mindful of City Plan Policies 38, 39 and
40 and Soho Neighbourhood Plan Policy 2(B) and therefore a recommendation to grant
conditional permission would be compliant with the requirements of the NPPF and the
statutory duties of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

Page 22

Item No.
1

8.3

Residential Amenity
Daylight and Sunlight
Daylight
The most commonly used BRE method for assessing daylighting matters is the ‘vertical
sky component’ (VSC), which measures the amount of sky that is visible from the
outside face of a window. Using this method, if an affected window is already relatively
poorly lit and the light received by the affected window would be reduced by 20% or
more as a result of the proposed development, the loss would be noticeable and the
adverse effect would have to be taken into account in any decision-making. The BRE
guidelines seek to protect daylighting to living rooms, kitchens and bedrooms.
Where the layout of affected room is known, the daylight distribution test can plot the ‘no
sky line’ (NSL) which is a point on a working plane in a room between where the sky can
and cannot be seen. Comparing the existing situation and proposed daylight
distributions helps assess the likely impact a development will have. If, following
construction of a new development, the no sky line moves so that the area of the
existing room, which does not receive direct skylight, is reduced to less than 0.8 times its
former value, this is likely to be noticeable to the occupants.
Sunlight
With regard to sunlighting, the BRE guidelines state that rooms will appear reasonably
sunlit provided that they receive 25% of annual probable sunlight hours, including at
least 5% of winter sunlight hours. A room will be adversely affected if this is less than the
recommended standards and reduced by more than 20% of its former values, and the
total loss over the whole year is greater than 4%. Only windows facing within 90 degrees
of due south of the proposed development need to be tested.
The applicant has submitted an assessment of the impact of the increase in height and
bulk of the proposed development upon the amount of sunlight (the Annual Probable
Sunlight Hours), daylight (VSC) and the distribution of that daylight within affected rooms
(NSL) to residential properties within the vicinity of the site. The buildings that have been
assessed are as follows:
-

20 Marshall Street (immediately to the south of the application site); and
Regents Lofts and Penthouses, 16 Marshall Street (to the south of the application
adjacent to the Marshall Street Baths and to the east of the application site).

Objections have been received on the ground that the submitted Daylight / Sunlight
Report is misleading as it infers that the flats located to the east and south of the
application site are not in residential use by being described as to ‘the rear of Poland
Street Car Park’ and ‘Marshall Street Leisure Centre’. This objection is without merit.
The submitted Daylight / Sunlight Report makes perfectly clear that these buildings are
partly in residential use and has assessed the impact upon these neighbouring
properties in accordance with the relevant guidance (i.e. the BRE Guide 2011).
Objections from neighbouring residents have been received on the originally submitted

Page 23

Item No.
1

Daylight / Sunlight Report was incorrect in its assumption that the building immediately
to the east of the application site (i.e. Regents Lofts and Penthouses, 16 Marshall Street)
is within commercial use from basement to third floor levels and in residential use over
fourth and above floor levels. Objectors to the application contend that the residential
units begin at third floor level.
A review of the planning history for the neighbouring site reveals that four of the
approved office / workspace units (Units 7, 8, 9 and 10) at second and third floor levels
were permitted to be used as 4 x two-bedroom units on 4 March 2010 (Ref:
09/08829/FULL). This was subject to a condition preventing occupation of these units
until appropriate arrangements had been submitted to and approved by the City Council
to secure: (i) Mitigation for the potential for increased on-street car parking); and (ii)
Provision of affordable housing elsewhere in the City. This condition was never
discharged and it is not known whether this breach of planning control is now immune
from enforcement action, having occurred in excess of ten years ago.
Despite conversations with one of the objectors to this application and attempts to
contact the managing agents for the Regents Lofts and Penthouses, it has not been
possible to confirm whether or not the second and third floors of this building are in
domestic or commercial use. It is understood, however, that none of the objectors to the
current application live within these four flats. Given the contents of the objections to this
application and the presence of what may be domestic blinds in the windows to these
parts of the building, it seems that there is a fair chance that these parts of the building
are in residential use. On this basis, the applicant has submitted a revised Daylight /
Sunlight Report assessing the impact upon the occupants of these residential units to
ensure that the assessment of the application is based upon a ‘worst case scenario’.
In respect to daylight, the analysis finds that there are expected to be material losses to
the westward facing living room windows at second, third and fourth floor level within
Regents Lofts and Penthouses.
At fourth floor level, three windows are expected to lose between 32% and 35% VSC.
However, the retained levels of daylight are very good (between 22% and 24%). As
such, the impact upon the amenity of the occupants of these flats will be minimal and
certainly in no way harmful.
There are, however, expected to be more material losses in daylight for the occupiers of
the flats at second and third floor level within Regents Lofts and Penthouses. These are
summarised below:
Room Room usage Window
reference
ref
2nd floor Living / kitchen W3/43
/ diner
W4/43
W5/43
W6/43
3rd floor Living / kitchen W3/44
/ diner
W4/44
W5/44
W6/44

Daylight (VSC)
Existing VSC
12.95
13.51
14.83
18.45
26.59
26.95
27.53
29.22

Page 24

Proposed VSC

Change

7.51
7.96
9.60
14.46
12.75
12.96
14.46
19.27

-42%
-41%
-35%
-22%
-52%
-51%
-47%
-34%

Item No.
1

Each of the two affected rooms are served by six large windows, two of which are not
affected by the proposed development. As such, whilst the losses in daylight to these
windows is significant and the retained levels of daylight to each of the windows will be
low, particularly in the case of the second-floor windows, the actual quality of light within
these kitchen / living / dining rooms will still be reasonable. This is evident in the daylight
distribution analysis that takes into account all the windows serving a room. This reveals
that the distribution of light within these rooms will not be materially affected by the
proposed development. For these reasons, the impact of the development upon the
amenity of the occupiers of these two flats is considered to be acceptable.
In respect to sunlight, the analysis finds that there are expected to be material losses to
the westward facing residential windows at second and third floor levels within Regents
Lofts and Penthouses. These are summarised below:
Room
Room Window
reference usage
ref
2nd floor Living / W3/43
kitchen / W4/43
diner
W5/43
W6/43
3rd floor Living / W3/44
kitchen / W4/44
diner
W5/44
W6/44

Existing
APSH
23
24
27
31
50
48
49
50

Proposed
APSH
17
17
22
31
24
24
27
35

Change
-26%
-29%
-19%
0%
-52%
-50%
-45%
-30%

Existing Proposed Change
winter winter
6
5
-17%
6
5
-17%
9
9
0%
11
11
0%
15
8
-47%
13
8
-38%
14
11
-21%
15
14
-6%

As the above table shows, even within the proposed development in place the two
rooms will still receive good levels of sunlight. Indeed, both windows will be served by a
window that receives in excess of the 25% APSH recommended in the BRE Guide
(2011). For these reasons, the amenity of the occupants of these flats will not be
materially harmed.
Sense of Enclosure
The proposed new fourth and fifth floors are not considered to result in a material
increase in the sense of enclosure for the occupants of neighbouring residential
properties.
Privacy
Subject to the imposition of a condition requiring the installation and retention of the
proposed 1.8m high privacy screen to the eastern edge of the proposed fifth floor roof
terrace, it is not considered that the proposed development will result in a material loss
of privacy for occupants of neighbouring residential properties.
It is not considered necessary to a similar screen to be installed on the southern edge of
the roof given the reasonable distance to the residential properties within 20 Marshall
Street and adjacent to the Marshall Street baths.

Page 25

Item No.
1

8.4

Transportation/Parking
The modest increase in office floorspace is unlikely to generate any material
transportation issues.

8.5

Economic Considerations
The economic benefits of the proposed increase in office floorspace are welcome.

8.6

Access
The two new floors of office accommodation will be fully accessible.

8.7

Other UDP/Westminster Policy Considerations
Noise
Subject to a condition preventing the fifth-floor terrace to the access before 09.00 or after
20.00 (Monday to Friday) and preventing any access on weekends and bank holidays, it
is considered that the impact of noise from the proposed terrace will not materially harm
the amenity of the occupants of flats surrounding the site.
Plant
As highlighted in some of the objections to the application, the originally submitted
acoustic report incorrectly identified the nearest nose sensitive receptor. As such, the
applicant submitted a revised acoustic report, identifying the residential properties in
Regents Lofts and Penthouses as being the nearest noise sensitive receptor. This has
been examined by colleagues in Environmental Sciences who raise no objection to the
noise from the proposed plant, subject to conditions. This includes that the plant can
only operate between 07.00 hours and 19.00 hours daily.
Biodiversity
The provision of roof top planting is welcome and compliant with City Plan Policy 34.

8.8

Westminster City Plan
The City Plan 2019 - 2040 was adopted at Full Council on 21 April 2021. Therefore, in
accordance with s.38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, it comprises
the development plan for Westminster in combination with the London Plan adopted in
March 2021 and the Soho Neighbourhood Plan adopted in October 2021. As set out in
s.38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and paragraph 49 of the
NPPF, the application must be determined in accordance with the development plan,
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

8.9

Neighbourhood Plan
The Soho Neighbourhood Plan includes policies on a range of matters including
character, heritage, community uses, retail, offices, housing, cultural uses, transport and

Page 26

Item No.
1

the environment. It has been through independent examination and was supported at
referendum on 2 September 2021. It was formally ‘made’ (i.e. adopted) on 8 October
2021 and therefore now forms part of the statutory development plan for this part of the
City. It will be used alongside the council’s own planning documents and the Mayor’s
London Plan in determining planning applications in the Soho Neighbourhood Area.
Where any matters relevant to the application subject of this report are directly affected
by the policies contained within the neighbourhood plan, these are discussed elsewhere
in this report.
8.10

London Plan
This application raises no strategic issues.

8.11

National Policy/Guidance Considerations
None.

8.12

Planning Obligations
Planning obligations are not relevant in the determination of this application.
The estimated CIL payment is:
- Westminster CIL: £83,127.
- Mayoral CIL: £62,345.

8.13

Environmental Impact Assessment
The development is of insufficient scale to require assessment under the Town and
Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017.

8.14

Other Issues
Whilst the roof extension may be used for staff smoking, it is considered highly unlikely
that this will be noticeable for local residents given the distance between the terrace and
the windows of the nearest residential properties.
The development if of insufficient scale to require the imposition of a condition securing
adherence to the City Council’s Code of Construction Practice. The potential for
disruption during the course of construction does not represent a sustainable ground for
refusing permission.

(Please note: All the application drawings and other relevant documents and Background
Papers are available to view on the Council’s website)
IF YOU HAVE ANY QUERIES ABOUT THIS REPORT PLEASE CONTACT THE PRESENTING
OFFICER: MARK HOLLINGTON BY EMAIL AT mhollington2@westminster.gov.uk

Page 27

Item No.
1

5.

KEY DRAWINGS

Existing roof plan:

Proposed fifth floor plan:

Page 28

Item No.
1

Existing front elevation:

Proposed front elevation:

Page 29

Item No.
1

Existing rear elevation:

Proposed rear elevation:

Page 30

Item No.
1

Existing section (front to back):

Proposed section (front to back):

Page 31

Item No.
1

DRAFT DECISION LETTER
Address:

45 Foubert's Place, London, W1F 7QH,

Proposal:

Demolition of the existing fourth floor roof structures and erection of two storey roof
extension to create new fourth and fifth floor level (including plant and roof terraces);
all to enlarge office building (Class E). Alterations to front (western facade),
installation of new windows throughout and associated alterations.

Plan Nos:

833_GA-B1 Rev. PL1, 833_GA-00 Rev. PL1, 833_GA-01 Rev. PL1, 833_GA-02
Rev. PL1, 833_GA-03 Rev. PL1, 833_GA-04 Rev. PL1, 833_GA-05 Rev. PL1,
833_GA-RRF Rev. PL1, 833_GE-01 Rev. PL1, 833_GE-02 Rev. PL1, 833_GE-03
Rev. PL1, 833_GE-04 Rev. PL1, 833_GS-AA Rev. PL1 and 833_GS-BB Rev. PL1.

Case Officer:

Mark Hollington

Direct Tel. No.

07866040156

Recommended Condition(s) and Reason(s) or Reason(s) for Refusal:

1

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the drawings and
other documents listed on this decision letter, and any drawings approved subsequently by the
City Council as local planning authority pursuant to any conditions on this decision letter.
Reason:
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2

Except for piling, excavation and demolition work, you must carry out any building work which
can be heard at the boundary of the site only:
o
between 08.00 and 18.00 Monday to Friday;
o
between 08.00 and 13.00 on Saturday; and
o
not at all on Sundays, bank holidays and public holidays.
You must carry out piling, excavation and demolition work only:
o
between 08.00 and 18.00 Monday to Friday; and
o
not at all on Saturdays, Sundays, bank holidays and public holidays.
Noisy work must not take place outside these hours unless otherwise agreed through a Control
of Pollution Act 1974 section 61 prior consent in special circumstances (for example, to meet
police traffic restrictions, in an emergency or in the interests of public safety). (C11AB)
Reason:
To protect the environment of neighbouring occupiers. This is as set out in Policies 7 and 33 of
the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R11AD)

3

All new work to the outside of the building must match existing original work in terms of the

Page 32

Item No.
1

choice of materials, method of construction and finished appearance. This applies unless
differences are shown on the drawings we have approved or are required by conditions to this
permission. (C26AA)
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of this part of the Soho Conservation Area. This is as set out in
Policies 38, 39 and 40 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R26BF)
4

With the exception of the glazed brickwork and the glazing for the windows and doors in the
front elevation, you must carry out the development in accordance with the samples and
specifications of facing materials approved by the City Council on 15 April 2016 (RN:
16/00740/ADFULL) or in accordance with alternative samples and specifications of facing
materials submitted to and approved by the City Council.
You must apply to us for approval of samples and specifications of the glazed brickwork for the
front elevation, the glazing for the windows and doors in the front elevation, and elevations
annotated to show where the materials are to be located. You must not start any work on these
parts of the development until we have approved what you have sent us. You must then carry
out the work using the approved materials.
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of this part of the Soho Conservation Area. This is as set out in
Policies 38, 39 and 40 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R26BF)

5

With the exception of the windows and doors to the front elevation, the new windows and doors
shall be in accordance with the detailed drawings approved by the City Council on 15 April 2016
(RN: 16/00740/ADFULL) or in accordance with alternative detailed drawings submitted to and
approved by the City Council.
You must apply to us for approval of detailed drawings (1:20 and 1:5) of the following parts of
the development - the new windows and doors within the front elevation. You must not start any
work on these parts of the development until we have approved what you have sent us. You
must then carry out the work according to these approved drawings. (C26DB)
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of this part of the Soho Conservation Area. This is as set out in
Policies 38, 39 and 40 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R26BF)

6

(1) Where noise emitted from the proposed plant and machinery will not contain tones or will not
be intermittent, the 'A' weighted sound pressure level from the plant and machinery (including
non-emergency auxiliary plant and generators) hereby permitted, when operating at its noisiest,
shall not at any time exceed a value of 10 dB below the minimum external background noise, at
a point 1 metre outside any window of any residential and other noise sensitive property, unless
and until a fixed maximum noise level is approved in writing by the City Council. The

Page 33

Item No.
1

background level should be expressed in terms of the lowest LA90, 15 mins during the
proposed hours of operation. The plant-specific noise level should be expressed as LAeqTm,
and shall be representative of the plant operating at its maximum.
(2) Where noise emitted from the proposed plant and machinery will contain tones or will be
intermittent, the 'A' weighted sound pressure level from the plant and machinery (including nonemergency auxiliary plant and generators) hereby permitted, when operating at its noisiest,
shall not at any time exceed a value of 15 dB below the minimum external background noise, at
a point 1 metre outside any window of any residential and other noise sensitive property, unless
and until a fixed maximum noise level is approved in writing by the City Council. The
background level should be expressed in terms of the lowest LA90, 15 mins during the
proposed hours of operation. The plant-specific noise level should be expressed as LAeqTm,
and shall be representative of the plant operating at its maximum.
(3) Following installation of the plant and equipment, you may apply in writing to the City
Council for a fixed maximum noise level to be approved. This is to be done by submitting a
further noise report confirming previous details and subsequent measurement data of the
installed plant, including a proposed fixed noise level for written approval by the City Council.
Your submission of a noise report must include:
(a) A schedule of all plant and equipment that formed part of this application;
(b) Locations of the plant and machinery and associated: ducting; attenuation and damping
equipment;
(c) Manufacturer specifications of sound emissions in octave or third octave detail;
(d) The location of most affected noise sensitive receptor location and the most affected window
of it;
(e) Distances between plant & equipment and receptor location/s and any mitigating features
that may attenuate the sound level received at the most affected receptor location;
(f) Measurements of existing LA90, 15 mins levels recorded one metre outside and in front of
the window referred to in (d) above (or a suitable representative position), at times when
background noise is at its lowest during hours when the plant and equipment will operate. This
acoustic survey to be conducted in conformity to BS 7445 in respect of measurement
methodology and procedures;
(g) The lowest existing LA90, 15 mins measurement recorded under (f) above;
(h) Measurement evidence and any calculations demonstrating that plant and equipment
complies with the planning condition;
(i) The proposed maximum noise level to be emitted by the plant and equipment. (C46AC)
Reason:
Because existing external ambient noise levels exceed WHO Guideline Levels, and as set out
in Policies 7 and 33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and the draft Environmental
Supplementary Planning Document (May 2021), so that the noise environment of people in
noise sensitive receptors is protected, including the intrusiveness of tonal and impulsive
sounds, and by contributing to reducing excessive ambient noise levels. Part (3) is included so
that applicants may ask subsequently for a fixed maximum noise level to be approved in case
ambient noise levels reduce at any time after implementation of the planning permission.
(R46AC)
7

No vibration shall be transmitted to adjoining or other premises and structures through the
building structure and fabric of this development as to cause a vibration dose value of greater

Page 34

Item No.
1

than 0.4m/s (1.75) 16 hour day-time nor 0.2m/s (1.75) 8 hour night-time as defined by BS 6472
(2008) in any part of a residential and other noise sensitive property. (C48AB)
Reason:
To ensure that the development is designed to prevent structural transmission of noise or
vibration and to prevent adverse effects as a result of vibration on the noise environment in
accordance with Policies 7 and 33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and the draft
Environmental Supplementary Planning Document (May 2021). (R48AB)
8

The plant/machinery hereby permitted shall not be operated except between 07.00 hours and
19.00 hours daily. (C46CA)
Reason:
To safeguard the amenity of occupiers of noise sensitive receptors and the area generally by
ensuring that the plant/machinery hereby permitted is not operated at hours when external
background noise levels are quietest thereby preventing noise and vibration nuisance as set out
in Policies 7 and 33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) the draft Environmental
Supplementary Planning Document (May 2021). (R46CC)

9

You must install the acoustic attenuation measures shown on the approved drawings before
you use the machinery. You must then maintain the attenuation measures in the form shown for
as long as the machinery remains in place. (C13DB)
Reason:
To protect the environment of people in neighbouring properties and to ensure the appearance
of the development is suitable and would not harm the appearance of this part of the city. This
is in line with Policies 7, 33, 38 and 40 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R13CD)

10

With the exception of the fire escape door, the glazing that you install in the north-east elevation
of the fourth floor roof extension shall be fixed shut at all times.
Reason:
To protect the environment of residents and the area generally as set out in Policies 7, 27 and
33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R22CD)

11

The flat roof at first floor level shall only be used for maintenance and to escape the building in
an emergency.
Reason:
To protect the privacy and environment of people in neighbouring properties, as set out Policies
7 and 38 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R21AD)

12

The privacy screen at fifth floor level on the north-east elevation shall be erected in full prior to
the use of the fifth floor terrace. This privacy screen shall be retained in full for the life of the
development.

Page 35

Item No.
1

Reason:
To protect the privacy and environment of people in neighbouring properties, as set out Policies
7 and 38 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R21AD)
13

Staff shall only be permitted access to the fifth floor terrace hereby approved between 09.00
and 20.00 (Monday to Friday) and not at all on weekends and bank holidays.
Reason:
To protect the environment of residents and the area generally as set out in Policies 7, 27 and
33 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R22CD)

14

The fourth and fifth floors (and associated fifth floor terrace) hereby approved shall be used only
as offices and for no other purpose within Class E of the Town and Country Planning (Use
Classes) Order 1987 (as amended September 2020) (or any equivalent class in any order that
may replace it).
Reason:
To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the use sought and assessed,
to ensure that the parts of the building are not used for other uses within Class E that may have
different or unacceptable waste storage, servicing, amenity or transportation requirements and /
or impacts, in accordance with Policies 7, 14, 16, 29, 32, 33 and 37 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040
(April 2021).
Informative(s):

1

In dealing with this application the City Council has implemented the requirement in the National
Planning Policy Framework to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive way. We have
made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies in the City Plan 2019 - 2040
(April 2021), neighbourhood plan (where relevant), supplementary planning documents, the
London Plan (March 2021), planning briefs and other informal written guidance, as well as
offering a full pre application advice service, in order to ensure that applicant has been given
every opportunity to submit an application which is likely to be considered favourably. In
addition, where appropriate, further guidance was offered to the applicant at the validation
stage.

2

Conditions 6 and 8 control noise from the approved machinery. It is very important that you
meet the conditions and we may take legal action if you do not. You should make sure that the
machinery is properly maintained and serviced regularly. (I82AA)

Page 36

Agenda Item 2
Item No.
2

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
PLANNING
APPLICATIONS SUB
COMMITTEE

Date

Classification

26 October 2021

For General Release

Report of
Director of Place Shaping and Town Planning

Ward(s) involved
Marylebone High Street

Subject of Report

15 Wimpole Street, London, W1G 9SU

Proposal

Reinstatement of stairs and stone floor landings on ground and first
floor and installation of a lift in the stairwell.

Agent

Map Projects Ltd

On behalf of

Partners FC Inc

Registered Number

21/02967/LBC

Date Application
Received

6 May 2021

Historic Building Grade

Grade II listed building

Conservation Area

Harley Street

1.

Date amended/
completed

6 May 2021

RECOMMENDATION

1. Grant conditional listed building consent.
2.

SUMMARY

The application relates to a Grade II listed mid-18th century terraced house within the Harley Street
Conservation Area. The building is a significant example of the period and, whilst altered, retains
significant elements of architectural and historic interest both inside and out, in particular relating to
this application, the front entrance hall and stone staircase.
The application seeks a temporary and/or personal listed building consent to install a new lift into the
stairwell, and to permanently reinstate the historic construction and layout of the staircase at ground
and second floors along with a new stone floor covering to the ground floor entrance hall.
The current application follows two previous refused applications for similar or identical proposals,
but has now been re-submitted with additional information and detailing, along with further legal
advice on Equalities relating to the disability of one of the occupiers of the dwelling. The information
submitted is considered to adequately answer all of the questions which remained with the last
application which was refused by Committee in January 2021, such that the overall impact to the
significance of the listed building can be considered to be neutral or only very slightly harmful, and is
therefore recommended for conditional approval.

Page 37

Item No.
2

3.

LOCATION PLAN
..

This production includes mapping data
licensed from Ordnance Survey with the
permission if the controller of Her Majesty’s
Stationary Office (C) Crown Copyright and /or
database rights 2013.
All rights reserved License Number LA
100019597

Page 38

Item No.
2

4.

PHOTOGRAPHS

Photograph 1 – view from first floor landing of the ground floor base of the staircase, showing also the
existing (modern) stub stair flight down to the lower ground floor that would be removed.

Page 39

Item No.
2

Photograph 2: View from ground floor up the stairwell, through which the lift shaft would rise. This
shows the distinctive underside of the cantilevered stone staircase, and the modern built-out section of
landing at second floor, which is proposed to be removed and opened back to the beam downstand line
visible to the right, to reinstate the full height of the stairwell.

Page 40

Item No.
2

Photograph 3 – First floor landing, with flight down to ground floor to left, and flight up to the second floor
to the right and top.

Page 41

Item No.
2

5.

CONSULTATIONS

THE GEORGIAN GROUP:
- Any response to be reported verbally.
THE VICTORIAN SOCIETY:
- Any response to be reported verbally.
SOCIETY FOR THE PROTECTION OF ANCIENT BUILDINGS:
- Any response to be reported verbally.
TWENTIETH CENTURY SOCIETY:
- Any response to be reported verbally.
HISTORIC BUILDINGS AND PLACES:
- Any response to be reported verbally.
COUNCIL FOR BRITISH ARCHAEOLOGY:
Any response to be reported verbally.
6.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

6.1

The Application Site

No. 15 Wimpole Street is a grade 2 listed building in the Harley Street
Conservation Area. It is a relatively rare house, dating from the 1760’s, a period
of relatively low rate of development. The unusual ‘L’ shaped plan form of the
interior is of significance, especially at ground and first floor levels. There are
significant elements of original historic fabric internally too which are important,
including the stone staircase.
6.2

Recent Relevant History
On 11 September 2020 listed building consent was refused for the installation of a lift
from lower ground floor to second floor and alterations to stairs. The reason for refusal
was:
Because of location, detailed design the lift and associated works would harm the
planform, fabric and special interest of this grade II listed building. This would be
against the advice set out in S25 and S28 of Westminster's City Plan (November
2016) and DES 1 of our Unitary Development Plan that we adopted in January
2007 and the advice set out in paragraph 2.4 of our `Supplementary Planning
Guidance: Repairs and Alterations to Listed Buildings'.
An informative was added to the decision letter:

Page 42

Item No.
2

The applicant is advised that because of the particular layout and special interest
of this Grade II listed building, it is not considered suitable for a lift. The proposals
to reverse unsympathetic works to the stairs would probably be acceptable if
applied for separately and would likely be welcomed.
On 22 January 2021 listed building consent was refused by Committee for a similar
scheme to the September 2020 delegated refusal, with revisions to the design of the
proposed lift (RN: 20/04173/LBC).
The application was refused for the following reason:
Because of its location and design, the proposed lift and associated works would
harm the plan form, fabric and special interest of this grade II listed building. This
would be against the advice set out in S25 and S28 of Westminster's City Plan
(November 2016) and DES 1 and 10 of our Unitary Development Plan that we
adopted in January 2007 and the advice set out in paragraph 2.4 of our
`Supplementary Planning Guidance: Repairs and Alterations to Listed Buildings'.

7.

THE PROPOSAL
It is proposed to install a new passenger lift which would rise from lower ground floor to
second floor, along with the reinstatement of currently missing sections of the historic
cantilevered stone staircase at ground and second floor levels, including the
reinstatement of the original second floor landing layout. The applicant proposes that
the lift be temporary or even personal for the duration of their occupancy of the house.
The lift would have a pneumatic lift pit at lower ground floor within an existing cupboard.
An opening in the ground floor structure for the lift to pass through. The lift shaft would
then rise free-standing through the open stairwell, with landings set at first and second
floors. At first floor the lift would require the removal of a section of existing balustrade in
order to connect with the first floor landing. The lift would terminate beneath the
decorative ceiling of the second floor.

8.

DETAILED CONSIDERATIONS
Key legislation, policy and guidance
The key legislative requirements in respect to designated heritage assets are as follows:
Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires
that:
“In considering whether to grant listed building consent for any works the local
planning authority or the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.”
Furthermore Chapters 12 and 16 of the NPPF require great weight be placed on design

Page 43

Item No.
2

quality and the preservation of designated heritage assets. Chapter 16 of the NPPF
clarifies that harmful proposals should only be approved where the harm caused would
be clearly outweighed by the public benefits of the scheme, taking into account the
statutory duty to have special regard. This should also take into account the relative
significance of the affected asset and the severity of the harm caused.
Policy 39 (Heritage) of the City Plan provides further framework for considering the
application of the statutory duty, and reiterates that listed buildings should be preserved,
whilst also allowing them to adapt to changing needs. The policy also encourages the
appropriate restoration of original or significant detail.
The architectural and historic significance of the listed building
No. 15 Wimpole Street is a grade 2 listed building in the Harley Street Conservation
Area. It is a relatively rare house, dating from the 1760’s, a period of relatively low rate of
development. The unusual ‘L’ shaped plan form of the interior is of significance,
especially at ground and first floor levels. There are significant elements of original
historic fabric internally too which are important, including the stone staircase.
The staircase is a grand cantilevered stone open-well stair which sweeps up from the
ground floor to second floor, providing a formal vertical access from the entrance to the
principal reception rooms on the first floor. The large vertical spatial character of the
stairwell with the staircase and landings enclosing it is a key element of significance of
the building’s interior.
The applicant’s historic building report states:
Despite its irregularities, the building is of high significance as a surviving mid-18th
century townhouse and as part of the original development of the Howard De
Walden Estate, which was one of the primary estates of London.
Of the primary significance and particularly sensitive to change are:
•
•
•

The front elevation, not including the 1898 fourth floor mansard, central
downpipes and late-19th century sash windows;
The original plan form which survives largely intact at basement, ground and
first floor level;
The original mid-18th century fittings including the stone-cantilevered
staircase, marble chimneypieces at ground, first and second floor and the
original joinery comprising of decorative architraves.

Background to the current application
In 2017 the applicant sought pre-application advice with respect to the installation of a
lift. Officers visited the building and considered three options for the location of a lift
shaft. These were:
1. Installing the lift on the south party wall in the front room. The lift shaft would
project beyond the face of the chimney stack. It would also involve removal of

Page 44

Item No.
2

historic fabric, including parts of the ceiling and cornice. This would have an
intrusive, harmful impact on the plan form and fabric of the principal room.
2. Installing the lift shaft externally, between the window openings on the rear
facade. It would not serve the first floor level or second floor level. This would
harm the appearance of the rear facade of the building, which is relatively
unaltered, and, again, harm its plan form.
3. Installing the lift within the open well of the staircase. This is the approach taken
in the two recent listed building consent applications, including this application
under consideration.
Officers concluded that all of these options would be harmful to the special interest of the
listed building in one way or another.
In 2020 two applications were submitted for a lift shaft within the stairwell. One of these
applications, with the lift shaft clad with a mirror-finish, was refused under delegated
powers. The second, proposed to be clad with a bronze mesh, was refused by
Committee on 19th January 2021 (decision issued 22nd January).
Whilst the lift was considered to have a visual impact on the spatial character of the
stairwell, the opening in the ground floor structure, and the apparent cutting of the first
floor balustrade were the focus of the January refusal, with officers advising in the report
and verbally that the works would be permanently harmful.
The applicant has now submitted greater detail about the existing ground floor structure
and first floor balustrade, and also about how they propose to install the lift and alter the
staircase, which demonstrate that the works to implement these changes should be
reversible, were the lift to be removed in the future.
The applicant states that lift access to the upper floors is required by the occupier for
medical reasons. Although they have submitted some information from their Doctor
about these reasons, they understandably do not wish for it to be made public and so it
cannot be included in this report.
The application proposals
The proposal involves the installation of an independent, self-supporting lift in the
stairwell, which does not rely on support from the upper floor plates. This would be
founded at lower-ground floor level by a pneumatic lift pit excavated within the existing
cupboard at this level, the door to which would become the door to the new lift. The site
is not within an Area of Archaeological Priority, and as such it is not expected to be
necessary to monitor the minor excavation required for this pit.
The lift would then rise through a new aperture formed in the ground floor structure, from
where the free-standing lift shaft would rise up through the open stairwell to second floor
level. This work to form an opening through the ground floor would involve the removal
of limited sections of modern floor boards and floor joists, and modern ceiling at lower
ground floor. The removed joists would be stored on-site for future reinstatement.

Page 45

Item No.
2

This new application provides greater information on this over the previous application,
stating that the floor is built of timber joists supporting modern floorboards at ground
floor, and a modern plasterboard ceiling at lower ground floor.
Also at ground floor level, the existing modern arrangement of the staircase which leads
up from the lower-ground floor would be altered to return it to its historic form, closing off
the existing arched opening in the panelling, and removing the understair WC. The
entrance hall is then proposed to be laid with a new stone floor, replacing the existing
modern timber covering. Details submitted during the course of the application show
that this new stone floor can be accommodated without harmful abutments with adjacent
features such as door architraves, skirtings or the base of the stone staircase.
At second floor, the landing would be opened up and the modern bathroom partitions
removed, to reinstate the historic stairwell and landing layout at this level, forming a new
landing similar in layout to the first floor; this landing was altered to its current closed
form as part of its postwar conversion to an office. The new balustrade at this level
would feature a similar access to the lift as at first floor. The shaft would terminate below
the second floor ceiling, which would remain intact.
The work to reinstate the historic stair layouts at both ground and second floors would
replace the existing modern timber sections of stair in these locations with new
cantilevered stone treads, so reinstating the full length of stone staircase from lower
ground to second floor.
The new lift shaft would be a lightweight steel structure enclosed by a bronze-finished
mesh. Architecturally it is designed to reflect similar free-standing lifts seen in historic
stairwells in some historic buildings in the city.
Impacts on significance
The application proposals present a challenging balance of both positive and negative
impacts, which should be overall weighed up to reach a conclusion about the overall
effect on the significance of the listed building.
Visual impact
The proposed lift would be a large and visually dominant new addition to the stairwell,
and would compromise the visual and spatial character of the stairwell as a vertical
connection route through the building, just as the entrance hall and corridor is a
horizontal connection from the front door to the rear Principal room.
However, the design of the lift is considered to be of a very high quality, and is limited in
size. It would stand clear of the staircase throughout its height, including at landings.
The applicant is correct to point out that historic open stairwells do quite often feature
metal-mesh clad lift shafts, often dating from the early 20th century, with many in fact
becoming historically significant in their own right. These however are more generally
associated with notably larger dwellings or institutional buildings, and are often set within
secondary stairwells.

Page 46

Item No.
2

Ground floor opening
The opening in the floor at ground floor would involve the removal of a number of
existing floor joists, some, none or all of which may be historic. The applicant has not,
as of publication, carried out any opening up of the floor void to investigate the age and
arrangement of these joists. However their Heritage Consultant has made what is
considered by officers to be a sound assessment of the likely layout of joists, based on
typical floor structures of this period, and also about the extent of postwar work to this
part of the building which may well have led to the substantial replacement of joists in
this particular part of the entrance hall (due to the works to build the stub-staircase down
to the lower ground floor).
We do know that the floorboards and lower ground floor ceiling coverings are modern,
and therefore the maximum extent of historic fabric impact from this opening is
estimated to be the removal of four or five joists, some or all of which could be historic or
equally could be modern. This causes some degree of harm to the architectural and
historic significance of the listed building. The joists are proposed to be removed whole
so that they can be reinstated without permanent harm, were the lift to be removed in
future. The joists would be stored on-site so that they can be reinstated in future.
First floor balustrade
On the first floor landing the straight section of the historic handrail and the balusters
would be removed, and replaced by shorter new sections, to provide access to the lift at
that level. This was one of the focusses of the previous refusal, with officers advising
that the handrail may be made of long continuous hardwood sections, so requiring
permanent cuts to be made which could not be rectified in future. This has now been
demonstrated by the applicant to not be the case.
The new detail submitted with this current application demonstrates that the handrail is
made up of relatively short sections, with two cuts quite fortunately placed at each end of
the straight landing section which would be the subject of the new opening to the lift.
This means that this whole section can be removed in one, on the existing cut-lines in
the handrail, with new shorter sections joined onto the same joints. This means that the
handrail does not need to be irreversibly cut, and could theoretically be respectfully
reinstated were the lift to be removed in the future. The removed historic sections of the
handrail and balusters would be stored on-site.
This balustrade alteration would continue to represent a visual break in the architectural
continuity of the balustrade, but would not represent a physical element of damage.
Both of these points of harm could be theoretically reversed in future.
Reinstatement of missing sections of stone staircase
The applicant’s commitment to the reinstatement of the two missing sections of stone
staircase, at ground floor and second floor, would be a considerable heritage benefit.
The applicant has provided good detail, including direct advice from structural and
masonry experts specialised in cantilevered stone staircases, to provide good
reassurances that this can be done without compromising the integrity of the

Page 47

Item No.
2

surrounding historic fabric.
Enhanced layout of staircase at ground and second floors
Related to the reinstatement of the missing sections of staircase, the correction of the
layout of the staircase and landing at ground floor and second floor is also considered to
be a very welcome heritage benefit. At second floor in particular, the reinstatement of
the open well enables an enhancement to the vertical spatial character of the stairwell.
New stone floor to ground floor entrance hall
The applicant’s new proposal to replace the existing modern timber floor covering to the
ground floor entrance hall is considered to be a positive enhancement of the
architectural character of this important space.
The information submitted in support of this proposal is considered to be sound and,
subject to an agreement of the specification of the new stone, should be entirely
deliverable.
Balance between heritage harm and heritage benefits
From the above it is clear that there are both elements of harm and benefit which would
accompany the application proposals. This must be considered carefully in terms of
where the balance lies, to produce an overall conclusion of whether the works, overall,
would harm or preserve (or even better reveal) the significance of the listed building.
In some respects these harms and benefits remain unchanged from the previously
refused application – with the exception of the stone floor, the proposals are the same,
and the additional supporting information and detailed drawings might be said to have
simply provided greater reassurances rather than actually reducing the elements of harm
caused. However, the effect of this additional information is significant, and gives good
assurances that the permanent, non-reversible harm that might be caused here is in fact
quite limited.
However, for the duration of the lift’s occupancy of the stairwell it would dominate the
space, and the joists and first floor handrail would be missing. These impacts can all be
reversed without permanent harm. Some element of caution is reasonable in relation to
whether the future removal of the lift is in fact likely, given the expected generational
passage of time, but if that were to occur and this can be secured by condition, the
balance between benefit and harm would be categorically beneficial overall – the
staircase and landing reinstatements, and the stone floor to the ground floor would
remain and would be objectively beneficial.
Opinions on where the balance lies will vary, but it is accepted that, even in its temporary
form, the balance is close. The benefits of the staircase and landing reinstatements are
significant, whilst the harm caused by the sight of the lift shaft, and the temporary
removals of fabric are moderate. It would therefore be entirely reasonable to consider
the balance to be satisfactory – that in effect overall the proposals preserve the
significance of the listed building. Even if overall the balance tips towards harmful, as is
the officer conclusion, it is slight, and can be more than adequately recovered in future

Page 48

Item No.
2

were this to remain considered appropriate.
As such, the proposal is considered acceptable, mindful of Policy 39 of the City Plan and
therefore, a recommendation to grant conditional listed building consent would be
compliant with the requirements of the NPPF and the statutory duties of the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

8.1

Access and Public Sector Equalities Duty
The applicant’s primary motivation for the application proposals is their continued use of
the main four floors of the house despite their limited mobility. Their current submission
provides an extensive analysis of the relationship between the statutory listed building
requirements of Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas)
Act 1990, and the duty on local authorities to pay due regard under the Equalities Act
2010. This is correct that the Committee must consider its duty under the latter and
officers have had due regard to the applicant’s disability in assessing this application,
however there is nothing either in law, policy or guidance to state that one matter is more
important than the other – it will be a matter of planning judgement in each case and a
balancing exercise must be undertaken. Historic England’s 2015 guidance “Easy
Access to Historic Buildings” clearly states that the Equality Act does not override other
legislation such as listed building or planning legislation, and the need to obtain
appropriate approvals still applies in the case of changes made to improve access.
The Equalities Act provides a considerable duty on the council to consider the provision
of equal access to all buildings. The City Council is required to weigh this against the
‘special regard’ and ‘great weight’ required to be given to the preservation of the listed
building by the Listed Buildings Act and the NPPF respectively. Paragraph 202 of the
NPPF makes it clear that, if less than substantial harm is found, that this be weighed
against the public benefits of the scheme, including securing its optimum viable use (in
this case as a dwelling).
Being a private dwelling, the benefit here however remains a primarily personal one; it is
a not publicly accessible building, and the building’s continued optimum use as a
dwelling is in little doubt. Were this a public or commercial building the provision of a lift
would be considered more easily to be a public benefit in accordance with the NPPF.
Historic England’s guidance on equal access to the historic environment is heavily
focussed on access to public buildings and the reasonable adjustments that service
providers should make for disabled people . .
Given the recommendation above that there is overall only a very slight or no harm
caused to the listed building’s significance, this issue becomes less pertinent than it had
been with the previous application in light of the new information provided with this
application as regards the temporary nature of the impacts to the listed building. It is a
matter of planning judgement and for the committee to balance the overall harm and
benefits of the scheme.

Page 49

Item No.
2

8.2

Westminster City Plan
The City Plan 2019-2040 was adopted at Full Council on 21 April 2021. The policies in
the City Plan 2019-2040 are consistent with national policy as set out in the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (July 2021) and should be afforded full weight in
accordance with paragraph 219 of the NPPF. Therefore, in accordance with s.38 of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, it comprises the development plan for
Westminster in combination with the London Plan adopted in March 2021 and, where
relevant, neighbourhood plans covering specific parts of the city (see further details in
Section 8.9). As set out in s.38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
and paragraph 49 of the NPPF, the application must be determined in accordance with
the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

8.3

Neighbourhood Plans
There is no Neighbourhood Plan for this part of the City.

8.4

London Plan
This application raises no strategic issues.

(Please note: All the application drawings and other relevant documents and Background
Papers are available to view on the Council’s website)
IF YOU HAVE ANY QUERIES ABOUT THIS REPORT PLEASE CONTACT THE PRESENTING
OFFICER: MARK HOLLINGTON BY EMAIL AT mhollington2@westminster.gov.uk.

Page 50

Item No.
2

9.

KEY DRAWINGS

Above: Existing ground floor plan, showing in red modern stair treads to be removed.
Below: Proposed ground floor plan showing lift and reinstated historic layout of stairs to lower
ground floor

Page 51

Item No.
2

Existing section through building, showing open stairwell, and existing modern arrangements at
ground to lower ground, and at second floor.

Page 52

Item No.
2

Proposed section through stairwell, showing new lift shaft, and breaks in balustrades at first floor
and second floor.

Page 53

Item No.
2

DRAFT DECISION LETTER
Address:

15 Wimpole Street, London, W1G 9SU

Proposal:

Reinstatement of stairs and stone floor landings on ground and first floor and
installation of a lift in the stairwell.

Reference:

21/02967/LBC

Plan Nos:

Location plan; Analysis of stairs 15WS-A01 to A11; Existing plans 15WS-E099-revA
to E102-revA; Existing section 15WS-ES01; Proposed stairs reinstatement 15WSN099 to N102; Proposed lift placement 15WS-P099-revA to P102-revA; Proposed
section 15WS-PS01-rev1; Proposed lift detailed plan 15WS-PD01-revA; Proposed
lift visual 15WS, Floor reinstatement 15WS-R1 to R2; Analysis of existing handrail
15WS-L100 to L102 and Photos pages 1 to 8; Handrail reinstatement 15WS-L101,
LS101, LP101, LR101, LH101; Existing joists 15WS-EH100e, Proposed joists
15WS-EH100p; Skirting details 15WS-DT01; Door threshold details 15WS-DT02;
Stone step details 15WS-DT03; Location floor plans (proposed) 15WS-P00;
Proposed elevations 15WS-ELV-01; Reinstated elevations 15WS-ELV-02;
Proposed sections 15WS-SE-01; Lift / floor junction detail 15WS-DT04; Document
entitled, "Lift shaft structure" ref. 1315 R01 210927 Rev.R01 (RW Structures,
27.09.2021), Document entitled, "Proposed Method Statement for Reinstatement of
Cantilever Stone Stair" ref. 1315 R01 210927 Rev.02 (RW Structures, 27.09.2021);
Letter from P.Bidaud of the StoneMasonry Company Limited, dated 27.09.2021;
Letter from EMCH Elevators Ltd dated 28.09.2021.

Case Officer:

Andrew Barber

Direct Tel. No.

07866 037397

Recommended Condition(s) and Reason(s)

1

The works hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the drawings and
other documents listed on this decision letter, and any drawings approved subsequently
by the City Council as local planning authority pursuant to any conditions on this decision
letter.
Reason:
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2

Within three months of Ms Leontina Ebers permanently vacating or ceasing to live in the
property, or no later than fifteen years from the date of this consent, whichever is the
earlier:
A. the lift shall be permanently and fully removed from the building, and associated
surrounding fabric made-good; and
B. the first floor balustrading and ground floor joists shall be reinstated.
The works to remove / reinstate (as applicable) shall be carried out in accordance with

Page 54

Item No.
2

the approved plans.
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this listed building. This is as set
out in Policy 39 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and paragraph 2.4 of our
Supplementary Planning Guidance: Repairs and Alterations to Listed Buildings. (R27BE)

3

You must complete the reinstatement of the following heritage benefits, in accordance
with the approved plans, before you commence installation of the lift superstructure:
A. Alteration of layout of lower-ground to ground floor staircase, including installation
of new matching stone stair treads; and
B. Alteration of layout of second floor staircase and landing, including installation of
new matching stone stair treads.
You must complete the laying of the new stone flooring, in accordance with the approved
plans, within three months of the completion of the lift superstructure.
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this listed building. This is as set
out in Policy 39 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and paragraph 2.4 of our
Supplementary Planning Guidance: Repairs and Alterations to Listed Buildings. (R27BE)

4

You must apply to us for approval of further information (as set out below) about the
following parts of the works:
(a). Sample of new stone stair treads, sourced and finished to match existing;
(b). Sample of new stone flooring;
(c). Samples of the outwardly visible lift-shaft frame, cladding and door materials.
You must not start any work on these parts of the development until we have approved
what you have sent us. You must then carry out the work according to these approved
details. (C26DB)
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this listed building. This is as set
out in Policy 39 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and paragraph 2.4 of our
Supplementary Planning Guidance: Repairs and Alterations to Listed Buildings. (R27BE)

5

All new work and improvements inside the building must match existing original adjacent
work in terms of the choice of materials, method of construction and finished appearance.
This applies unless differences are shown on the approved drawings or are required in
conditions to this permission. (C27BA)
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this listed building. This is as set
out in Policy 39 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and paragraph 2.4 of our
Supplementary Planning Guidance: Repairs and Alterations to Listed Buildings. (R27BE)

Page 55

Item No.
2

6

You must not disturb existing ornamental features including chimney pieces, plasterwork,
architraves, panelling, doors and staircase balustrades. You must leave them in their
present position unless changes are shown on the approved drawings or are required by
conditions to this permission. You must protect those features properly during work on
site. (C27KA)
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this listed building. This is as set
out in Policy 39 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and paragraph 2.4 of our
Supplementary Planning Guidance: Repairs and Alterations to Listed Buildings. (R27BE)

7

Before you commence the removal of the related fabric, you must submit to us a detailed
Conservation Method Statement (CMS) for the temporary removal of each of the
following building components:
(a). First floor handrail and balusters;
(b). Ground floor joists.
The submitted CMS should include details of how you will record, tag and store the
affected fabric. You must then complete the works in accordance with the approved
CMS.
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this listed building. This is as set
out in Policy 39 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and paragraph 2.4 of our
Supplementary Planning Guidance: Repairs and Alterations to Listed Buildings. (R27BE)

8

Before you commence removal of directly related fabric, you must submit to us for our
written approval, photographs and a specialist assessment of the age, significance and
arrangement of floor joists affected by the approved ground floor lift shaft opening, along
with detailed final drawings of the fabric removal and new works associated with the
works. If found to be of significance, the joists should then be securely stored on-site and
reinstated in the future in accordance with other conditions imposed on this consent. If
found to be of no significance, they may be disposed of.
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this listed building. This is as set
out in Policy 39 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and paragraph 2.4 of our
Supplementary Planning Guidance: Repairs and Alterations to Listed Buildings. (R27BE)

Informative(s):

1

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR GRANTING CONDITIONAL LISTED BUILDING CONSENT In reaching the decision to grant listed building consent with conditions, the City Council has

Page 56

Item No.
2

had regard to the relevant policies in the National Planning Policy Framework, the London Plan
(March 2021), the City Plan (April 2021), as well as relevant supplementary planning guidance,
representations received and all other material considerations. The City Council decided that
the proposed works would not harm the special architectural and historic interest of this listed
building. In reaching this decision the following were of particular relevance: Policies 38, 39 and
40 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 adopted in April 2021 and paragraph 2.4 of our Supplementary
Planning Guidance: Repairs and Alterations to Listed Buildings.

2

You will need to contact us again if you want to carry out work on the listed building which is not
referred to in your plans. This includes:
- any extra work which is necessary after further assessments of the building's condition;
- stripping out or structural investigations; and,
- any work needed to meet the building regulations or other forms of statutory control.
Please quote any 'TP' and 'RN' reference numbers shown on this consent when you send us
further documents. It is a criminal offence to carry out work on a listed building without our
consent. Please remind your client, consultants, contractors and subcontractors of the terms
and conditions of this consent. (I59AA)

3

You are advised that the works are likely to require building regulations approval. Details in
relation to Westminster Building Control services can be found on our website at
www.westminster.gov.uk/planning-building-and-environmental-regulations/building-control.

Please note: the full text for informatives can be found in the Council’s Conditions, Reasons
& Policies handbook, copies of which can be found in the Committee Room whilst the
meeting is in progress, and on the Council’s website.

Page 57

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3
Item No.
3

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
PLANNING
APPLICATIONS SUB
COMMITTEE

Date

Classification

26 October 2021

For General Release

Report of
Director of Place Shaping and Town Planning

Ward(s) involved
Warwick

Subject of Report

74 Eccleston Square Mews, London, SW1V 1QN

Proposal

Conversion of garage to habitable living accommodation (Retrospective
application).

Agent

JJA Planning

On behalf of

Mr Mark Shearer

Registered Number

21/04382/FULL

Date Application
Received

29 June 2021

Historic Building Grade

Unlisted

Conservation Area

Pimlico

1.

Date amended/
completed

29 June 2021

RECOMMENDATION
Grant conditional permission.

2.

SUMMARY
74 Eccleston Square Mews is located at the northern-most end of this private mews. The building
comprises of two storeys plus a mansard roof and is in use as flats. This application relates to 74
Eccleston Square Mews, which is a ground floor flat and can be accessed from both Eccleston
Square Mews and Belgrave Road. The building is not listed but lies within the Pimlico Conservation
Area.
In 2003 permission was granted for the use of the ground floor of 74 Eccleston Square Mews as a
one bedroom flat with integral garage. A condition required the garage not to be used for any
purpose other than to store a private motor vehicle of the occupier of the ground floor flat. In 2016 the
garage was converted into a second bedroom with ensuite bathroom. This application seeks
retrospective planning permission to retain the habitable living accommodation in place of the
garage.
The key issue for consideration is:
•

The impact of the proposals on the local highway network and vehicle parking levels.

Page 59

Item No.
3

The proposals have received both objection and support. The objector is primarily concerned that the
loss of the garage will lead to increased parking pressure in the mews, and particularly any parking
that takes place directly outside the application site has a harmful impact and obstructs neighbours in
the shared cul-de-sac at this end of the mews. Supporters welcome the increase in habitable
accommodation primarily because the improved flat layout and additional living accommodation will
encourage families to live in the area.
For the reasons set out in this report, the proposal is considered acceptable in highways terms and is
in accordance with the policies set out in our City Plan 2019-2040 (adopted April 2021). The
application is recommended for approval subject to the conditions set out in the draft decision letter.

Page 60

Item No.
3

3.

LOCATION PLAN
..

This production includes mapping data
licensed from Ordnance Survey with the
permission if the controller of Her Majesty’s
Stationary Office (C) Crown Copyright and /or
database rights 2013.
All rights reserved License Number LA
100019597

Page 61

Item No.
3

4.

PHOTOGRAPHS

74 Eccleston Square Mews

Page 62

Item No.
3

Long view towards 74 Eccleston Square Mews

Page 63

Item No.
3

5.

CONSULTATIONS
WESTMINSTER SOCIETY
Any response to be reported verbally.
PIMLICO NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM
Any response to be reported verbally.
PIMLICO FREDA
Any response to be reported verbally.
HIGHWAYS PLANNING MANAGER
Acceptable. The Unitary Development Plan policy no longer exists which once protected
existing off-street residential parking. The new City Plan does not support off-street
parking in residential development. However, there is reference in the supporting text to
suggest that the Council should not allow parking pressure to increase above an 80%
threshold. The proposal would not result in a breach of this threshold. This is a private
mews and not a public highway and therefore the council does not have power to create
any parking bays. Two off-street cycle parking spaces should be provided on site which
should be secured by planning condition.
NEIGHBOURS/ADJOINING OWNERS
No. consulted: 27
No. of responses: 11 (from nine properties)
No. of objections: 2 (from one property)
No. in support: 9 (from eight properties)
Objection was received on the following grounds:
Highways
-

If a vehicle were to be parked outside the applicant’s garage doors this would result
in obstruction of the shared access zone to the narrow cul-de-sac at the northern end
of the mews. This could potentially block vehicular access to and from parking
spaces in front of neighbouring properties nos. 72 and 73 Eccleston Square Mews.

-

The historic 2003 planning permission at the site required the retention of an offstreet parking space and secured this by condition.

-

The planning policy wording has not changed in a way which would allow this
condition to be removed or development to be approved without the retention of an
on-site car parking space. Policy 27 of Westminster’s City Plan does not indicate
anywhere that where existing on-site residential parking has been previously
required that this can now be removed. Meanwhile, Policy 27 part F refers to
situations where sites are redeveloped, which is not the situation in this application.
Regardless, even if there were exceptions, the proposal would still have negative
amenity impacts for not including a car-parking space. Overall, whilst the parking
policy has evolved in the new City Plan, it does not support the removal of an
existing car parking space that was considered so important from environmental and
amenity reasons that the original planning permission required a planning condition

Page 64

Item No.
3

to ensure that it was not lost.
-

There is an unusually high number of supporting comments from properties that
would be completely unaffected by the amenity impacts of the proposal.

-

The statement made by the applicant that the conversion has proven to raise no
harm to the environment of residents and the area generally is incorrect given that
harm has in fact been caused in the past by the poor and obstructive parking
practices of occupants of no. 74, and harm will potentially continue to be caused by
future occupants of no. 74 if on-site parking is removed and the integral garage is
lost; there is no other planning control mechanism to prevent this obstructive parking
occurring on a private roadway.

-

Should the Council grant planning permission, a Section 106 agreement should be
entered into, or planning condition attached, to make the proposal acceptable. For
example, requiring that the owner, occupier, or visitors of 74 Eccleston Square Mews
must not use Eccleston Square Mews for parking or storage of any motor vehicle.

Support was received on some or all of the following grounds:
Land Use
-

Conversion of a redundant garage to deliver a future proofed family home should be
welcomed.

-

Approval of this application will encourage a growing family to stay living in central
London as they are able to maximise the liveable space in their flat.

-

Most houses have converted their garages and this proposal simply brings the
property in line with the desirable trend of making the area work for families.

-

This is consistent with the new city plan approach which has a stronger emphasis on
families.

Highways
-

There is plenty of parking available in the area. Belgrave Road has ample parking
and which the applicant consistently uses to park their car.

-

The current owner has never parked in Eccleston Square Mews.

-

Garages in mews buildings are never used as garages for cars as they are too small
for modern cars to fit and they simply become under-utilised storage rooms.

-

Mews residents have a right to park outside their houses whether they have a
garage or not, as evidenced by other neighbours in the Mews.

-

The site is in a very sustainable location, with excellent public transport accessibility.

-

Garage use at the end of the mews would result in negative impacts such as poorer

Page 65

Item No.
3

air quality, increased traffic hazards and greater levels of congestion.
Design
-

Having a disused scruffy garage versus a renovated liveable extra room makes
obvious and good sense for everyone.

Amenity
-

There is no impact on any other resident in the mews from this proposal.

SITE & PRESS NOTICE
Yes.
6.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

6.1

The Application Site
Eccleston Square Mews is a private mews, accessed from Warwick Way, either using
Warwick Way North or West Warwick Place. The mews is characterised by a linear row
of two-storey with mansard roof mews houses.
74 Eccleston Square Mews is located at the northern-most end of this private mews. The
building has two storeys plus a mansard roof extension and is in use as two flats.74
Eccleston Square Mews is a ground floor flat, which can be accessed from both
Eccleston Square Mews and Belgrave Road. The upper two floors above are in use
as a maisonette, Flat C Belgrave Road. The building is not listed but lies within the
Pimlico Conservation Area.

6.2

Relevant History
31 December 2003
Permission granted for ‘Installation of new windows, door and garage door at ground floor
level (Eccleston Square Mews elevation), new windows and door at ground floor level
(Belgrave Road elevation) in connection with use of the ground floor as a 1-bedroom selfcontained flat (Class C3) with integral garage’ (Ref. 03/06163/FULL).
Condition 9 states:
You must not use the garage for any purpose other than to store a private motor vehicle
of the occupier of the ground floor flat.
16 December 2013
Permission refused for ‘Retention of living accommodation (associated with existing
dwelling) in place of a garage and storage accommodation’ (Ref. 13/10782/FULL).
The reason for refusal was on the grounds that the development would lead to the loss of
off-street parking, which would add to an already high demand for on-street car parking in
the area and adversely affect people living in the area.
A subsequent appeal was dismissed on 08 December 2014 (Ref.14/00115/TPREF).

Page 66

Item No.
3

Since the planning appeal was dismissed in 2014, the space in-question was reverted
back to an integral garage. However, following a change of owner in 2015, the space
was again converted into habitable living accommodation with works stated to have
been completed by May 2016. The applicant seeks to regularise the works.
7.

THE PROPOSAL
74 Eccleston Square Mews was a one bedroom flat with integral garage. A condition
required the garage not to be used for any purpose other than to store a private motor
vehicle of the occupier of the ground floor flat. In 2016 the garage was converted into a
second bedroom with ensuite bathroom. This application seeks retrospective permission
to retain the habitable living accommodation in place of the garage.
No external works are proposed as part of this application.
The full planning history of the site is presented in Section 6.2 above.

8.

DETAILED CONSIDERATIONS

8.1

Land Use
Following the garage conversion, the creation of additional living accommodation has
created a two bedroom flat with no garage. Supporters of the proposal comment that the
additional habitable living space is welcomed as this would help accommodate a family
to live in the flat. The proposal is in accordance with City Plan Policy 8 (Housing
delivery) that seeks to protect existing residential uses and floorspace.

8.2

Townscape and Design
No external works are proposed as part of this application.

8.3

Residential Amenity
The proposal does not raise any amenity issues in terms of loss of daylight and sunlight,
sense of enclosure, overshadowing, privacy, outlook or overlooking. Highways/ Parking
issues are dealt with in section 8.4

8.4

Transportation/Parking
The City Council’s planning policy on parking has evolved since the adoption of
Westminster’s new City Plan 2019-2040 (adopted in April 2021). Prior to this, off-street
parking spaces were protected by Policies STRA 25 and TRANS 23 of the former
Unitary Development Plan (UDP). The UDP has been superseded by the new City Plan.
City Plan Policy 27 (Parking) encourages car-free development for development
proposals in line with the requirements of the London Plan and to encourage people to
use more sustainable modes of transport, especially where sites have excellent access
to public transport. This is necessary to help reduce congestion and improve air quality
and road safety, of which are also pertinent ambitions of the City Council. Consequently,

Page 67

Item No.
3

Policy 27 no longer protects existing off-street parking.
74 Eccleston Square Mews, and the entire surrounding area, has a PTAL (Public
Transport Accessibility Level) rating of 6b (on a scale of 1-6, where 6b is the best
possible rating). The site is in close to Victoria Station to the north west and Pimlico LUL
Station to the east, as well as bus stops on Belgrave Road, Wilton Road and
Buckingham Palace Road. Parking is also available, subject to controlled hours and
resident permits, on Belgrave Road, Warwick Way and Warwick Place North.
Objections to the loss of the garage off-street parking space have been received from an
adjacent neighbour on grounds that if a vehicle was parked on the mews outside 74
Eccleston Square Mews then this would result in obstruction of the shared access zone
to the narrow cul-de-sac at this northern end of the mews. The objector states that any
parking outside 74 Eccleston Square Mews could potentially block vehicular access to
and from parking spaces in front of neighbouring properties, nos. 72 and 73 Eccleston
Square Mews. The objector states that harm has been caused in the past by the poor
and obstructive parking practices of occupants of no. 74, and harm will potentially
continue to be caused by future occupants if on-site parking is removed and the integral
garage is lost.
The objector further states that the historic 2003 planning permission required the
retention of an off-street parking space and secured this by condition. In addition, the
objector states that, whilst parking policy has evolved in the new City Plan, it does not
support the removal of an existing car parking space that was considered so important
from environmental and amenity reasons that the original planning permission required a
planning condition to ensure that it was not lost.
Supporters of the proposals comment that many garages in the mews are too small to
accommodate modern cars and are more often than not utilised as storage spaces.
Some supporters also comment that residents have right to park outside their property
regardless as to whether they have a garage or not, and also that there is sufficient
parking space in the area particularly on Belgrave Road.
The Highways Planning Manager has reviewed the proposals and does not raise an
objection to the loss of the garage/ off-street parking space. The new City Plan Policy 27
does not allow off-street parking in residential developments, so it is therefore
considered unreasonable to protect existing spaces. However, the supporting text of
Policy 27 suggests the council should not allow parking pressure to increase above an
80% threshold. The Highways Planning Manager has reviewed the relevant parking data
for the surrounding area and the 80% threshold is not and would not be breached by the
loss of one garage.
In some circumstances the council could ask an applicant to pay to get rid of a yellow
line in front of a garage entrance and convert the space to a parking space, thus
providing a public space in place of a private one. However, that would not be
appropriate here as the road is not public highway, so the council would have no power
to create any parking bays. Neither is there an existing footway crossover that would
need to be replaced.
On the basis of the considerations set out above, the objections to the proposal cannot

Page 68

Item No.
3

be sustained. It would also be unreasonable to refuse permission on the grounds of
impeding parking for neighbouring residents when such circumstances could potentially
arise regardless of whether the integral garage is in situ or not. For example, owners of
other neighbouring properties in the Mews could park in a way that could impede access
to no. 74’s garage.
The loss of an integral garage, whilst regrettable, is considered to be compliant with City
Plan Policy 27 and would not have a negative impact on the local highways network,
existing parking availability or parking thresholds.
The objector asks that should the council grant planning permission, a Section 106
agreement should be entered into, or planning condition attached, to make the proposal
acceptable. For example, requiring that the owner, occupier, or visitors of 74 Eccleston
Square Mews must not use Eccleston Square Mews for parking or storage of any motor
vehicle. It is however considered unreasonable to restrict the occupier of 74 Eccleston
Square Mews from using this private mews.
The applicant has agreed to the imposition of a condition to secure cycle parking. This is
considered to be a planning benefit of the scheme granted that cycle parking is not
required for development proposals such as this. The cycle parking would help meet the
ambitions of City Plan Policy 25 which promotes sustainable modes of transport and
therefore prioritises walking and cycling in the city.
In the interests of public safety, a condition is also recommended requiring a revised
ground floor that shows that the former garage door does not open out over the private
Mews.
8.5

Economic Considerations
No economic considerations are applicable for a development of this size.

8.6

Access
The property can be accessed from both its principal elevation (southern elevation) via
Eccleston Square Mews at ground floor level (step-free), and via a lower ground lightwell
using a staircase on Belgrave Road (northern elevation). No changes to access are
proposed.

8.7

Other UDP/Westminster Policy Considerations
None.

8.8

Westminster City Plan
The City Plan 2019-2040 was adopted at Full Council on 21 April 2021. The policies in
the City Plan 2019-2040 are consistent with national policy as set out in the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (July 2021) and should be afforded full weight in
accordance with paragraph 219 of the NPPF. Therefore, in accordance with s.38 of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, it comprises the development plan for
Westminster in combination with the London Plan adopted in March 2021 and, where

Page 69

Item No.
3

relevant, neighbourhood plans covering specific parts of the city (see further details in
Section 8.9). As set out in s.38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
and paragraph 49 of the NPPF, the application must be determined in accordance with
the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
8.9

Neighbourhood Plans
None are relevant to this application.

8.10

London Plan
This application raises no strategic issues.

8.11

National Policy/Guidance Considerations
The City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) policies referred to in the consideration of this
application are considered to be consistent with the NPPF 2021 unless stated otherwise.

8.12

Planning Obligations
Planning obligations are not relevant in the determination of this application.

8.13

Environmental Impact Assessment
Not applicable to this application.

8.14

Other Issues
None.

(Please note: All the application drawings and other relevant documents and Background
Papers are available to view on the Council’s website)
IF YOU HAVE ANY QUERIES ABOUT THIS REPORT, PLEASE CONTACT THE PRESENTING
OFFICER: DAVID DORWARD BY EMAIL AT ddorward@westminster.gov.uk

Page 70

Item No.
3

9.

KEY DRAWINGS
Existing floor plan (as approved under 03/06163/FULL)

Page 71

Item No.
3

Proposed floor plan

Page 72

Item No.
3

DRAFT DECISION LETTER
Address:

74 Eccleston Square Mews, London, SW1V 1QN

Proposal:

Conversion of garage to habitable living accommodation (Retrospective application).

Reference:

21/04382/FULL

Plan Nos:

Site Plan dated 27 July 2017; Location plan dated 17 November 2020; Drawing nos.
102 Rev A (proposed ground floor plan).
Information Only:
Undated document titled 'Parking Provision'; Design and Access Statement dated
June 2021; Cover letter dated 29 June 2021; floorplan as proposed timestamped
2003.

Case Officer:

Direct Tel. No.

David Dorward

07866038730

Recommended Condition(s) and Reason(s):
1

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
drawings and other documents listed on this decision letter, and any drawings
approved subsequently by the City Council as local planning authority pursuant to any
conditions on this decision letter.
Reason:
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2

Notwithstanding what is shown on the approved ground floor plan 102 Rev A, you must
apply to us for approval of a revised ground floor plan that shows all doors or gates do
not open over the private Mews
Reason:
In the interests of public safety as set out in Policies 24 and 25 of the City Plan 2019 2040 (April 2021). (R24BD)

3

You must apply to us for approval of details of secure cycle storage for the residential
use. You must not start any work on this part of the development until we have
approved in writing what you have sent us. You must then provide the cycle storage in
line with the approved details prior to occupation and make it available at all times to
everyone using the property. You must not use the cycle storage for any other
purpose. (C22HA)
Reason:
To provide cycle parking spaces for people using the development in accordance with
Policy 25 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021). (R22FB)

Page 73

Item No.
3

Informative(s):
1

In dealing with this application the City Council has implemented the requirement in the National
Planning Policy Framework to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive way. We have
made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies in the City Plan 2019 - 2040
(April 2021), neighbourhood plan (where relevant), supplementary planning documents, the
London Plan (March 2021), planning briefs and other informal written guidance, as well as
offering a full pre application advice service, in order to ensure that applicant has been given
every opportunity to submit an application which is likely to be considered favourably. In
addition, where appropriate, further guidance was offered to the applicant at the validation
stage.
Please note: the full text for informatives can be found in the Council’s Conditions, Reasons
& Policies handbook, copies of which can be found in the Committee Room whilst the
meeting is in progress, and on the Council’s website.

Page 74

Agenda Item 4
Item No.
4

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
PLANNING
APPLICATIONS SUB
COMMITTEE

Date

Classification

26th October 2021

For General Release

Report of
Director of Place Shaping and Town Planning

Ward(s) involved
Lancaster Gate

Subject of Report

2 Cleveland Gardens, London, W2 6HA

Proposal

Use of storage areas at lower ground and ground floor levels as a one
bedroom flat and associated internal and external alterations including
the installation of two rooflights to the rear and door to courtyard.

Agent

True Associates

On behalf of

H. Khan

Registered Number

20/03593/FULL &
20/03594/LBC

Date Application
Received

9 June 2020

Historic Building Grade

Grade II

Conservation Area

Bayswater

1.

Date amended/
completed

9 June 2020

RECOMMENDATION
1. Refuse planning permission.
2. Grant conditional listed building consent.
3. Agree the reasons for granting conditional listed building consent.

2.

SUMMARY

Planning permission and listed building consent are sought for internal and external alterations to
create a one bedroom flat over lower ground and ground floor, in place of existing storage areas.
Objections have been received from the South East Bayswater Residents Association and existing
neighbouring residents within the building and adjoining buildings on a number of grounds including
the design and the impact of the proposal on their amenity.
The key issues in the determination of this application are:
* The impact of the proposal on the Grade II listed building and the character and appearance of the
Bayswater Conservation Area.

Page 75

Item No.
4

* The impact of the proposal on the amenity of neighbouring residents.
Whilst the physical works requiring listed building consent are considered acceptable and
recommended favourably. The quality of accommodation proposed is considered to be unacceptable
given the lack of natural light and ventilation to the proposed residential unit. In addition, and
notwithstanding the lack of contextual information submitted, the proposal is considered to be
unneighbourly and detrimental to the amenities of surrounding residents, by way of loss privacy,
noise, and disturbance. As such the planning application is recommended for refusal.

Page 76

Item No.
4

3.

LOCATION PLAN
..

This production includes mapping data
licensed from Ordnance Survey with the
permission if the controller of Her Majesty’s
Stationary Office (C) Crown Copyright and /or
database rights 2013.
All rights reserved License Number LA
100019597

Page 77

Item No.
4

4.

PHOTOGRAPHS

Front Elevation

Page 78

Item No.
4

Existing Windows to side elevation

Page 79

Item No.
4

Existing door to lower ground floor

Page 80

Item No.
4

5.

CONSULTATIONS
SOUTH EAST BAYSWATER RESIDENT’S ASSOCIATION:
Objection on amenity grounds due to loss of privacy and overlooking.
- Cannot comment on right of access to the courtyard this appears to be a
freehold/leasehold matter.
- Drawings do not show the whole courtyard and so unclear if the window will overlook
a bedroom within the rear of No 1 – could be addressed by the lower panes of the
window being obscured.
- The two rooflights could result in light pollution, depends on the light intensity.
- Queries whether the living room would have adequate daylight
- Requests a condition should be attached requiring the new door to be kept locked
shut and only available for the use in the case of fire.
- Note objections raised by Grove End House residents and request that the case
officer makes a site visit so as to fully establish the impact the proposals will have on
the amenity of ground floor residents.
HIGHWAYS OFFICER:
No objection. Acceptable subject to conditions.
WASTE PROJECT OFFICER:
No objection, subject to condition. Drawings submitted are not in line with the Council’s
requirements could be addressed by condition.
ADJOINING OWNERS/OCCUPIERS AND OTHER REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED
No. Consulted: 16 Total No. of replies: 7 (2 from one household; one letter submitted on
the listed building application)
Seven objections have been received raising some or all of the following grounds:
Amenity:
• The door at lower ground floor level to the courtyard results in loss of privacy
requests the door has a non-opening window with obscure glazing.
• The side windows at ground floor level will result in loss of privacy and requests
both windows fixed shut and obscure glazed.
• Does not comply with ENV13 of the UDP and S29 of Westminster’s City Plan.
• Material loss of daylight/sunlight to existing dwellings.
• Significant increase in the sense of enclosure and unacceptable overshadowing
• Noise disturbance.
Design:
• Would alter the special architectural and historic structure of the building and
cause harm to the building therefore not complying with Section 72 of the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act.
Other:
• Inaccuracies with the submission namely leasehold/freehold matters.
• Asbestos has been found within the storerooms therefore resulting in significant
health and safety issues.

Page 81

Item No.
4

•
•
•
•
•

Previous prior approval application was unlikely to be viewed favourably due to
‘the small size of this bedsit flat’.
Breaches Human Rights Act due to the proposed development would have a
dominating impact on me and my right to the quiet enjoyment of my property.
Very poor quality of residential space.
Will set a precedent.
Ownership/access rights to the courtyard which belongs to No 1 Cleveland
Gardens

PRESS ADVERTISEMENT / SITE NOTICE:
Yes

6.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

6.1

The Application Site
2 Cleveland Gardens is a Grade II listed building which forms part of a terrace on the
east side of Cleveland Gardens. It comprises of five storeys plus a lower ground floor
level and is located within the Bayswater Conservation Area.
This application relates to the existing storage area to the rear of the building at ground
and lower ground floor level.

6.2

Recent Relevant History

17/00378/APA; Refused due to Grade II listed building being excluded from this type of
application.
Notification for prior approval for a change of use of from storage (Class B8) to one selfcontained flat (Class C3) under Schedule 2, Part 3, Class P of the Town, and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015.

7.

THE PROPOSAL
Permission and listed building consent are sought for internal and external alterations,
including two rooflights and a door to the rear courtyard, to facilitate the conversion of
the existing storage facilities into a one bedroom duplex self-contained residential
dwelling.

8.

DETAILED CONSIDERATIONS

8.1

Land Use
Loss of storage space
The storage rooms are located at lower ground floor and ground floor level below the
existing residential flats within the building, however they are currently vacant and

Page 82

Item No.
4

unused. There is a separate communal storage area at lower ground floor for bike
storage. There is little planning history in relation to the accessibility of the storage
rooms and if they were ever used as communal facilities and there is no specific
protection of ancillary storage facilities. As such, their loss is acceptable.

New residential unit
The provision of a new residential unit is welcomed in accordance with policies 8 and 10
of the City Plan 2019 – 2040. The proposed flat would be 50m2 in size, which meets the
Technical Housing Standards for internal living accommodation, however no additional
floorspace is proposed to mitigate the lack of external amenity space.
The flat would be accessed from the main entrance, via the existing communal hallway.
The ground floor would accommodate a kitchen/dining area, served by two windows and
two proposed roof lights (one to the staircase and the other on entry). A new internal
staircase leads down to the larger lower ground level and accommodates a living room
with door to the courtyard and a bedroom with the existing door replaced with a frosted
glass door, also leading to a courtyard, together with an internal bathroom and WC.
The ground floor is considered to receive adequate natural light. However, the proposal
for residential use which is much more intensive than a storage area, raises concern
over the proposed fully openable and clear glazed windows and the potential impact that
this is likely to have on existing residential windows in close proximity. (See amenity
section of this report).The lower ground floor lacks any outlook or meaningful natural
light and ventilation. The living room and bedroom at lower ground floor level would not
contain any windows, but a door to each. These rooms would consequently have no
outlook, and receive very limited daylight and natural ventilation would require the doors
to be opened. Additionally, it is unclear if the opening of the doors would lead to
encroachment onto another party’s land.
For the reasons set out above, the proposal does not provide a high-quality living
environment for future occupiers, contrary Policy 12 of our City Plan.
8.2

Townscape and Design
The key legislative requirements in respect to designated heritage assets are as follows:
Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires
that “In considering whether to grant listed building consent for any works the local
planning authority or the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic
interest which it possesses.”
Section 66 of the same Act requires that “In considering whether to grant planning
permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local
planning authority or, as the case may be, the Secretary of State shall have special
regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.”
Section 72 of the same Act requires that “In the exercise, with respect to any buildings or

Page 83

Item No.
4

other land in a conservation area…special attention shall be paid to the desirability of
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area.”
Whilst there is no statutory duty to take account of effect on the setting of a conservation
area, Policy 39 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 requires that where development will have a
visibly adverse effect upon a conservation area’s recognised special character or
appearance, including intrusiveness with respect to any recognised and recorded
familiar local views into, out of, within or across the area, it will not be permitted.
Furthermore Chapters 12 and 16 of the NPPF require great weight be placed on design
quality and the preservation of designated heritage assets including their setting.
Chapter 16 of the NPPF clarifies that harmful proposals should only be approved where
the harm caused would be clearly outweighed by the public benefits of the scheme,
taking into account the statutory duty to have special regard or pay special attention, as
relevant. This should also take into account the relative significance of the affected asset
and the severity of the harm caused.
The two storey wings to the rear are likely an original feature of the buildings, however a
lift has been created rising through it at some point in the past, and site photographs
submitted by the applicants show that this part of the building has been notably altered
in the past and does not appear to retain any original decorative features, with its
anticipated original floor plan also considerably compromised by later partitioning and
the creation of the lift. In this context, the internal alterations will not unacceptably
compromise the fabric and significance of the building. Whilst the new staircase rises
through the floor structure between lower ground and ground, this floor structure has
already been compromised by the creation of the lift. An area of party wall between the
two rear extensions at lower ground floor level is proposed to be removed, however with
the main body of the original building and mindful of the considerable alterations to this
area in the past and the existing opening in this wall this work is not considered
unacceptable in this case. Overall, the internal works are considered acceptable in this
context.
Externally, the two small rooflights will not unduly clutter the appearance of the building,
and a condition is attached to secure appropriate detailing and colour of finish for these
features. The new external door to the courtyard is not considered of assured design for
this 19th century building, and an amending condition is therefore attached to secure an
appropriate four panelled door in traditional style to integrate appropriately. Subject to
the conditions, the external works are considered acceptable.
It is noted that objections have been received on design grounds and the proposal
resulting in harm to the listed building and therefore not according with Section 72 of the
Planning Act, it is considered that this objection cannot be supported in this instance for
the reasons given above.
Given the above, the proposals are considered acceptable, mindful of policies 38, 39
and 40 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 and therefore, a recommendation to grant
conditional permission and consent would be compliant with the requirements of the
NPPF and in line with the statutory duties set out in section 16, 66 and 72 of the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

Page 84

Item No.
4

8.3

Residential Amenity
The proposal does not seek to extend or enlarge the building. As such no physical
extensions are proposed and the proposal does not therefore result in any changes to
daylight and sunlight (or changes to overshadowing) received by neighbouring
properties and the objections on these grounds are not justified.
The proposal has been submitted with little or no context drawings in which to
understand the relationship of the building for residential use with the adjacent
courtyards and neighbouring properties, their windows, doors and use of the courtyard
space. Insufficient information has also been received with respect to the ownership of
the courtyard areas and rights of access or rights to open the doors of the application
property onto this land. Whilst it is acknowledged that land ownership is a private
matter, it is relevant to the amenity considerations in this case.
The two ground floor windows (which are proposed to serve the kitchen) of the proposed
flat appear to face the two windows of the neighbouring flat within 1 Cleveland Gardens
at a distance of around 4m and also provide views down to the external amenity space
within the courtyard and potentially other neighbouring windows. Given the proposed
residential use and the proximity of neighbouring residential windows and neighbours
external amenity space, the proposal would result is significant and unacceptable
overlooking to neighbouring residents and the potential for noise and disturbance. The
proposed doors at lower ground floor level which are the sole means of natural
ventilation to the proposed living room and bedroom would also be unneighbourly and
likely result in a loss of privacy and noise and disturbance to neighbouring properties
and the use of their external courtyard. This is unneighbourly and an unacceptable
relationship and would be detrimental the amenities currently enjoyed by neighbouring
residential occupiers, contrary to policy 7 of our City Plan. The objections raised by
surrounding neighbours on these grounds are therefore supported by officers.
The two proposed rooflights are considered to be in a location and size so as not to
result in an increase in light pollution to the flats within the upper floors, however had the
application been considered acceptable a condition would have been recommended to
restrict the extent of their opening and for them to be obscure glazed.

8.4

Transportation/Parking
The Highways Planning Manager raises no objection to the proposals.
Car Parking
No car parking is provided however given the excellent PTAL score of 6b for public
transport links and given the scheme is for one residential unit, this would be a marginal
breach (if the future occupier owned a car), it is not considered that a refusal on this
ground could be sustained.
Cycle Parking
No cycle parking provision is shown on the submitted plans. The London Plan requires
1 space per residential unit of 1 bedroom or fewer and 2 spaces per unit of 2 bedrooms
or more. Provision will encourage sustainable transport use. Details could be required by

Page 85

Item No.
4

condition.
8.5

Economic Considerations
No economic considerations are applicable for a development of this size.

8.6

Access
Access to the new residential dwelling is through the existing communal front door and
along the shared hallway, similar to the other residential flats within the building.

8.7

Westminster City Plan
The City Plan 2019-2040 was adopted at Full Council on 21 April 2021. The policies in
the City Plan 2019-2040 are consistent with national policy as set out in the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (July 2021) and should be afforded full weight in
accordance with paragraph 219 of the NPPF. Therefore, in accordance with s.38 of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, it comprises the development plan for
Westminster in combination with the London Plan adopted in March 2021 and, where
relevant, neighbourhood plans covering specific parts of the city (see further details in
Section 8.9). As set out in s.38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
and paragraph 49 of the NPPF, the application must be determined in accordance with
the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

8.8

Neighbourhood Plans
None relevant.

8.9

London Plan
This application raises no strategic issues.

8.10

National Policy/Guidance Considerations
The City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) policies referred to in the consideration of this
application are considered to be consistent with the NPPF 2021 unless stated otherwise.

8.11

Planning Obligations
Planning obligations are not relevant in the determination of this application.

8.12

Environmental Impact Assessment
The proposed development is of insufficient scale to require the provision of an
Environmental Impact Assessment.

8.13

Other Issues
Refuse/Recycling
The drawing submitted are not in line with the Council’s requirements and therefore if the

Page 86

Item No.
4

application was being recommended favourably a condition would have been attached
to secure this facility.
Concerns have been raised with inaccuracies within the submission mainly in relation to
leasehold and freehold matters in relation to the courtyard and the existing door. Whilst
usually such private matters are not relevant to the consideration of planning
applications, in this case, it is relevant to understand the use of the courtyard.
Objections have been received on the grounds that asbestos has been found within the
storerooms resulting in health and safety issues which is a non-planning related matter
and therefore a refusal on these grounds could not be sustained however if the
application was being recommended favourably an informative would have been
included to advise the applicant.

(Please note: All the application drawings and other relevant documents and Background
Papers are available to view on the Council’s website)
IF YOU HAVE ANY QUERIES ABOUT THIS REPORT, PLEASE CONTACT THE PRESENTING
OFFICER: SARAH WHITNALL BY EMAIL AT swhitnall@westminster.gov.uk

Page 87

Item No.
4

9.

KEY DRAWINGS

Existing Ground Floor Plan

Proposed Ground Floor Plan

Page 88

Item No.
4

Existing Lower Ground Floor Plan
Proposed Lower Ground Floor Plan

Page 89

Item No.
4

DRAFT DECISION LETTER
Address:

2 Cleveland Gardens, London, W2 6HA

Proposal:

Change of use to residential (Class C3) to form a new 1 bedroom flat and
associated external alterations including the installation of two rooflights to the rear.
(Linked to 20/03594/LBC)

Reference:

20/03593/FULL

Plan Nos:

Site Location Plan, H14854-PA-015, H14854-PA-010, H14854-PA-011, H14854-PA012, H14854-PA-013, H14854-PA-110 Rev A, H14854-PA-111 Rev A, H14854-PA112, H14854-PA-113 and Design/Access and Heritage Statement.

Case Officer:

Frederica Cooney

Direct Tel. No.

020 7641
07866037206

Recommended Condition(s) and Reason(s)

Reason:
The proposed flat, due to lack of outlook, natural light, and natural ventilation, would
provide a poor quality living environment for future occupiers, contrary Policy 12 of our
City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021)
Reason:
Notwithstanding lack of context drawings in which to understand fully the relationship of
the building for residential use with the adjacent courtyards and neighbouring properties,
their windows, doors and use of the courtyard space. Due to the proposed use and the
proximity of its windows and doors to neighbouring residential properties windows and
external amenity space, the proposal would be unneighbourly and would result is
significant and unacceptable overlooking to neighbouring residents and potential for noise
and disturbance. This is an unacceptable relationship and would be detrimental the
amenities currently enjoyed by neighbouring residential occupiers, contrary to Policy 7
our City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021).

Informative(s):

1

In dealing with this application the City Council has implemented the requirement in the National
Planning Policy Framework to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive way so far as
practicable. We have made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies in the
City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021), neighbourhood plan (where relevant), supplementary
planning documents, London Plan (March 2021), planning briefs and other informal written
guidance, as well as offering a full pre application advice service. However, we have been

Page 90

Item No.
4

unable to seek solutions to problems as the principle of the proposal is clearly contrary to our
statutory policies and negotiation could not overcome the reasons for refusal.

Please note: the full text for informatives can be found in the Council’s Conditions, Reasons
& Policies handbook, copies of which can be found in the Committee Room whilst the
meeting is in progress, and on the Council’s website.
DRAFT DECISION LETTER
Address:

2 Cleveland Gardens, London, W2 6HA,

Proposal:

Change of use to residential (Class C3) to form a new 1 bedroom flat and
associated external alterations including the installation of two rooflights to the rear.
(Linked to 20/03593/FULL)

Plan Nos:

Site Location Plan, H14854-PA-015, H14854-PA-010, H14854-PA-011, H14854PA-012, H14854-PA-013, H14854-PA-110 Rev A, H14854-PA-111 Rev A, H14854PA-112, H14854-PA-113 and Design/Access and Heritage Statement.

Case Officer:

Frederica Cooney

Direct Tel. No.

07866037206

Recommended Condition(s) and Reason(s) or Reason(s) for Refusal:

1

All new work and improvements inside the building must match existing original adjacent work
in terms of the choice of materials, method of construction and finished appearance. This
applies unless differences are shown on the approved drawings or are required in conditions to
this permission. (C27BA)
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this listed building. This is as set out in
Policy 39 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and paragraph 2.4 of our Supplementary
Planning Guidance: Repairs and Alterations to Listed Buildings. (R27BE)

2

You must apply to us for approval of a detailed section drawing showing the new rooflights
including their upstand and confirming materials including colour of finish. You must not start
any work on these parts of the development until we have approved what you have sent us.
You must then carry out the work according to the drawing and clarification. (C26DB)
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this listed building. This is as set out in
Policy 39 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and paragraph 2.4 of our Supplementary
Planning Guidance: Repairs and Alterations to Listed Buildings. (R27BE)

3

You must apply to us for approval of detailed drawings showing the following alteration(s) to the

Page 91

Item No.
4

scheme:New external door to lower ground floor level to be designed with a panelled timber base and
two vertical glazed panels to the upper section, and the solid elements formed in painted timber
You must not start on these parts of the work until we have approved what you have sent us.
You must then carry out the work according to the approved drawings. (C26UB)
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this listed building. This is as set out in
Policy 39 of the City Plan 2019 - 2040 (April 2021) and paragraph 2.4 of our Supplementary
Planning Guidance: Repairs and Alterations to Listed Buildings. (R27BE)
Informative(s):
1

With regards to condition 3, the upstands to the rooflight must be finished in a grey colour, and
metal framing to the glazing in grey aluminium

2

The new door required by condition 4 must be a traditionally designed door with four panelled
arrangements, and with the lower two panels in solid timber and the upper two with two
vertically proportioned glazed panels set into the timber framework.

Page 92

